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In the years ahead there -will be many monographs written 

regarding specific areas in the evidence assenbled for the Warren 

Commission. Each* examining the evidence carefully, may under­

mine one crucial area in the government's case.

Raymond Marcus' work, "The Bastard Bullet", is an excel­

lent example of that which is to come. In a scholarly and 

minutely detailed analysis he demolishes a central and essential 

portion of the Warren Commission's case.

If Marcus is correct, the case against Oswald as the 

"lone assassin" collapses. Marcus is correct. Ihe Commission's 

case, which appears surprisingly ill-based upon cursory examina­

tion, falls apart upon detailed examination. I know of no better 

illustration of that thesis than "The Bastard Bullet".

Mark Lane



COMMENTS BY LEADING WARREN REPORT CRITICS:

" . . • methodically documents the bizarre history of a 
most crucial piece of evidence . . . one cannot read this 
treatise without becoming firmly convinced of the impossi­
bility of the Warren Commission conclusion, i.e.s that this 
is the bullet which penetrated both victims, causing severe 
wounds and fracturing bones."

Marjorie Field, independent researcher

" . . .  an outstanding piece of research ...........  should
be required reading for all college Logic students, and all 
others interested in the assassination of President Kennedy."

Penn Jones, Jr., editor, Midlothian Mirror 
author, "Forgive Ify- Grief"

" . . . a masterful analysis of the stretcher bullet and 
collateral evidence —  a most impressive, well-argued 
study."

Sjylvia Meagher, author,
"Subject Index to the Warren Report"

" . . .  This work provides some essential raw material for 
the history of the Warren Report's short and unhappy life. 
It punctures the heart of the Commission's case . . . "

Vincent J. Salandria, attorney,
author

" . . .  The Bastard Bullet is an important contribution 
toward understanding what really happened when President 
Kennedy was assassinated and how the Warren Commission's 
subsequent investigation went wrong . . . "

Harold Weisberg, author,
"Whitewash:
The Report on the Warren Report"
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"I never did get excited about minor inconsistencies 

such as an extra bullet."

Rep. Carl Albert> majority leader 
House of Representatives
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I COMMISSION EXHIBIT 399 —  A BRIEF INTRODUCTION

The bullet designated by the Warren Commission as Commission Exhibit 

399 has already gained a notoriety -which assures it a place in history. This 

is so because the Commission itself attributed to this small missile, 

measuring little more than one inch in length and weighing less than one-half 

ounce , a performance -upon which it rested its entire case against Lee Harvey 

Oswald as the lone assassin of President John F. Kennedy.

The Commission contends that this bullet, after having been fired 

from the liannlicher-Carcano rifle from the sixth-floor window of the Texas 

School Book Depository, struck President Kennedy in the back at a point 

5-3/8 inches below the top of his coat collar, and 1-3A  inches to the right 

of the center seam} that it then exited from his throat at the neck-tie 

knot; then struck Governor Connally in the back near his right armpit} tore 

through his chest fracturing his fifth rib*} exited from below his right 

nipple} pierced his right forearm causing multiple fractures of the wrist 

bones, and leaving many metal fragments} entered his left thigh depositing 

two more fragments (one of which remains in his femur to this date)} and 

then —  spent by its labors —  either immediately or at Parkland Hospital, 

became dislodged from his thigh and was found, so the Commission tells us, 

on his stretcher.

A heavy workload indeed for the Commission's small missile. But 

if its workload was heavy, its trajectory was fantastic.

In order to strike Governor Connally's back at the point of his 

wound near the right arnpit, the bullet, which would have been descending 

at an angle of approximately 20° if fired from the TSBD window, had to be

*(and, although the Commission does not acknowledge it, leaving at least one 
metal fragment)
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deflected upward upon entering President Kennedy's body in order to exit 

from his throat at "the neck-tie knot"; and then, while still retaining 

virtually all its original velocity? be deflected again, this time downward 

and in mid-air before entering Governor Connally's back.*

Our first task-shall be to test this key hypothesis of the 

Commission'si and to examine briefly the circumstances which caused it to 

rest its case on so vulnerable a proposition* despite overwhelming contrary 

evidence attested to by eye witnesses. Governor Connally himself, medical 

and ballistic testimony, the relative positions of the wounds, Newton's Laws 

of Motion, photographic proof, the FBI report, and common sense.

After satisfying ourselves that the Commission's version is 

completely untenable, we shall then proceed to our main purpose; an attempt 

to determine just what role 399 did play in the historic tragedy of 

Novenber 22, 1963.

* * * * * * * *

*Vincent J. Salandria, "A Philadelphia Lawyer Analyzes the Shots, 
Trajectories and Wounds", Liberation, January, 1965



II WHY THE MAGIC BULLET?

The theory that a single bullet struck both President Kennecty- and 

Governor Connally was one which the Warren Commission must have adopted with 

considerable hesitation, in view of the formidable evidence against it. In 

fact, however, a number of circumstances converged which left the Commission 

no alternative if its lone-assassin version of the shooting was to remain 

intact.

The most inflexible of these circumstances was provided by the 

remarkable and historic 8-mm motion pictures taken by a spectator at the 

motorcade, Abraham Zapruder. A nuutoer of hits, or reactions to hits, are 

detectable in this film; but none is more startling than that depicted with 

graphic horror in frame 313, where President Kennedy has been struck in the 

head. Since this shot immediately knocked JFK over to his left across Mrs. 

Kennedy's lap, and since by this point the already-wounded Governor was lying 

on his back across the seated Mrs. Connally, it is apparent that this was the 

last shot to strike either victim. Frame 313> therefore, marks the end point 

in the actual shooting of the victims.

The beginning point —  the first frame of the Zapruder film in 

which a shot could have been fired, consistent with the lone-assassin theory —  

is frame 210. This is so because the FBI has proved that for a considerable 

period prior to this frame. President Kennedy was obscured from the sixth- 

floor TSBD window by a large oak tree.* Therefore, it is to the one-hundred- 

and-three-frame period (from 210 to 313) that the Commission's theory has 
restricted it for all of its shots.

The FBI has further determined that each frame represents slightly

♦the film shows unmistakably that he was not hit prior to being obscured by 
the tree
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less than l/l8 second, and that the Mannlicher-Carcano rifle could be fired no 
faster than once every 2.3 seconds,. the equivalent of forty-two frames of the 
notion picture film. Therefore, a maximum of three shots could be fired in 

the 5.6 seconds from 210 to 313j and hence, the Commission’s three-shot 

limitation.

A corollary of this fact is that if any two hits are recorded by the 

Zapruder film in less than 2.3 seconds (forty-two frames) it would constitute 

prima facie evidence of a second assassin.

With the preceding facts in mind, an analysis of the Zapruder film 

discloses why the Commission was forced to embrace its double-hit hypothesis. 

President Kennedy, as the Commission concedes, is reacting to a hit in frame 

226 as he emerges from behind a road sign. The Commission also concedes that 

while at this time Governor Connally shows no sign of having yet been struck, 

he is reacting to a hit prior to frame 2U0. Even assuming that the shot to 

which JFK is reacting in 226 had struck him as early as 210 (the first frame in 

which he would have been clearly visible from the sixth-floor window after 

emerging from behind the oak tree), there still would not be time for a 

second shot from the Mannlicher-Carcano rifle until at least forty-two frames 

later, or 252. Therefore, either the shot to which Governor Connally is 

reacting by frame 2U0 is the same one which struck President Kennedy earlier, 

or there was a second assassin.

The Commission attempts to reconcile the time difference between 

these two reactions of the victims by suggesting that Governor Connally's 

was a delayed reaction. But the Zapruder film precludes such a possibility, 

for it shows not merely the Governor's reaction, but also proves that he

wa3 hit immediately prior to frame 238.
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At that point Governor Connally had been turning to his right, 

when suddenly —  in the l/l8 second which had elapsed since preceding frame 

237 —  he is halted in mid-turn, his right shoulder is thrust forward (toward 

the Zapruder camera) and down, and immediately thereafter his mouth pops 

open. (Gov. Connally, in his testimony, stated* "I immediately, when I was 

hit, I said, 'Oh, no, no, no1.11)

The sudden forward thrust of his shoulder, in a direction 

opposite from that in which he was turning, is conclusive proof that this was 

not a delayed reaction to pain, but the very moment of impact. To maintain 

in the face of this irrefutable proof that both men were struck by a single 

bullet, one must also accept that the Commission’s magically weaving missile 

somehow paused in mid-air for approximately one second after exiting the 

President's throat before striking the Governor's back.

Unfortunately for its case, physical laws are less impressed with 

the Commission's prestige than were the American press and public. These laws 

are not So flexible as to allow for such an incredible performance, either by 

399 or any other missile. The Zapruder film proves conclusively that 

President Kennedy and Governor Connally were not hit by the same bullet J and, 

in the words of Norman Redlich, special assistant to the Commission's General 

Counsel, J. Lee Rankin, "To say they were hit by seperate bullets is 

synonymous with saying there were two assassins".*

* * * * * * * *

^"Inquests The Warren Commission and the Establishment of Truth", pg. U3, 
Edward Jay Epstein; Viking Press.
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The weight of evidence indicates, as the Commission concludes, 

that Governor Connally's wounds of the back, chest, and wrist were caused by 

a single bullet. Although the evidence fails to establish that his thigh 

wound also resulted from the same missile, the Commission, being desperately 

short of ammunition, is forced to elevate such a possibility to the level of 

established factj and, as we have already seen, further insists that prior 

to inflicting the Governor's wounds this same bullet, 399> had emerged from 

President Kennedy's throat after entering the back of his neck.

The relevant question now before us, however, is not whether all 

this wounding of two men could have been accomplished by a single bullet? 

for the Zapruder film shows a double-hit was not possible, and by so doing, 

has demolished for all time the Commission's lone-assassin case. Nor is it 

our task to determine if any single bullet could cause all of the Governor' s 

wounds; but rather, to ascertain whether 399 did so, for it was allegedly 

on his stretcher that 399 was "found”.

Even a layman's glance at the remarkably undistorted missile 

depicted as Commission Exhibit 399 reveals a serious Commission dilanmas 

How could this bullet have inflicted such damage —  particularly, the 

shattering of Governor Connally's rib and wrist, leaving numerous metal 

fragments in its wake —  and yet emerge itself unscathed? That this should 

puzzle laymen is not surprising, for the experts themselves were incredu­

lous.

Mr. Specter (Commission Counsel): . . . .  could that missile have made

the wound on Governor Connally's right wrist?
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Commander Humes (chief autopsy surgeon* Bethesda Naval Hospital):

I think that is most unlikely . . .  the report from Parkland 

Hospital referring to the . . . wound of the wrist (said) "small 

bits of metal were encountered at various levels throughout the 

wound . . . "  . . .  this missile is basically intact . . . and

I do not understand how it could possibly have left fragments . . .

Dr. Humes again emphasizes the unlikelihood of 399 having left fragments when

he is asked about the thigh wound:

Mr. Specter: . . . could (399) have been the one to lodge in Governor 

Connally^s thigh?

Commander Humes: I think that extremely unlikely. Hie reports . . .  and

x-rays . . • are described as showing metallic fragments . . • 

which . . .  apparently are still present in Governor Connally's 

thigh. I can't conceive of where they came from this missile.

Colonel Finck* a wound ballistics expert* agreed with his colleague:

Mr. Specter: Could it (399) have been the bullet that inflicted the wound

on Governor Connally's right wrist?

Colonel Finck: No; for the reason that there are too many fragments

described in the wrist.

FBI firearms expert Robert A. Frazier did little to support the Commission 

on this important point:

Mr. Eisenberg (Comm. Counsel): In your opinion* was there any weight loss?

Mr. Frazier: There did not necessarily have to be any weight loss to the
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bullet. There may be a slight amound of lead missing from the 

base . . • and the bullet is slightly flattened • * •

Mr. Eisenberg* How material would you call the defacement?

Mr. Frazier? It is hardly risible unless you look at the base of the bullet

and notice it is not round.

Dr. Paul Gregory, who assisted in Governor Connally's surgery at 

Parkland Hospital, was a little more helpful, but not much.

Mr. Specter? V/hat opinion, if any, do you have as to whether that bullet 

(399) could have produced the wound on the Governor’s right wrist 

and remained as intact as it is at the present time?

Dr. Gregory? The only deformity (other than a small piece removed by the 

FBI for analysis) . . .  is at the base • . • where it joined the 

cartridge . . .  The only way this missile could have produced this 

wound is to have entered the wrist backward.

Dr. Gregory explains that a tumbling bullet could enter the wrist backward, 

but " . . .  that is the only possible explanation I could offer to correlate 

this missile with this particular wound."

Even with this strict qualification. Dr. Gregory’s offering of a 

backward entry seems incapable of solving the Commission's problem. A 

jacketed bullet striking solid bone in a backward position, with its lead core 

exposed, would certainly be at least as vulnerable to mutilation as one 

entering normally.

Dr. Shaw, who operated on the Governor's chest, also was stunped

by the pristine appearance of 399*
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Dr. Shaw* . . .  It is a matter of whether the -wrist -wound could be caused 

by the same bullet, and we felt that it could but we had not 

seen the bullets until today'. . . . . . I would have to say

that this bullet has lost literally none of its substance.

(Mr. Specter then asks Dr. Shaw to accept a nunber of assumptions, clearly 

designed to elicit his support for the Commission's double-hit theory with 

399 as the cause} and for its sole culpability in the wounding of the 

Governor. Dr. Shaw's exasperation can be sensed from his reply)*

Dr. Shaw* All right. As far as the wounds of the (Governor's) chest are 

concerned, I feel this bullet could have inflicted those wounds.

But the examination of the wrist both by x-ray and at the time of 

surgery showed aona ffragmants that make it diffioult to believe

that the same missile could have caused these two wounds. There 

seems to be more than three grains of metal missing as far as 

the —  I mean in the wist.

Dr. Siaw’s troublesome persistence brings a mystifying response from Specter*

Mr. Specter* Your answer there, though, depends upon the assumption that

the bullet . . . (399) is the bullet which did the damage to the 

Governor. Aside from whether or not that is the bullet . . .

Could a bullet traveling in the path which I have described in

• the prior hypothetical question, have inflicted all of the wounds 

on the Governor?

Precisely what bullet does Mr. Specter have in mind if not 399? At no point 

does the Commission claim some other as yet unidentified bullet inflicted 

these wounds. Is it possible that the Commission's magically weaving stop- 

start missile, after achieving the Commission-dictated double hit, performed
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the additional feat of rendering itself invisible? If so, then where did 399 

come from? But no. Specter soon makes it clear that his abandonment of 399 

is a strictly temporary device, designed to enable Dr. Shaw in good 

conscience to give 'yes'* answers to questions he otherwise would answer "no". 

After extracting two 'lyeses" in this manner, Specter renews the pressure to 

legitimatize 399s

Mr. Specters TVhat is your opinion as to whether bullet 399 could have 

inflicted all of the wounds on the Governor . . . ?

but Dr. Shaw still resists;

Dr. Shaw? I feel that there would be some difficulty in explaining all of 

the wounds as being inflicted by bullet Exhibit 399 without 

causing more in the way of loss of substance to the bullet or 

deformation of.the bullet.

. . . A hard man, Dr. Shaw. Immediately thereafter, there appears in the 

testimony the following ubiquitous phrase; one which those familiar with the 

twenty-six volumes of hearings and exhibits have come to expect repeatedly, 

at moments of Commission discomfiture* "off the record".

* * * * * * * *



XV AND INEXPERT TESTS

Dr. Alfred G. Olivier is employed by the Department of the Arny at 

Edgewood Arsenal, Mi., as "Chief of the Wound Ballistics Branch". He des­

cribes his work as "investigating the wound ballistics of various bullets and 

other military missiles". In this capacity, he was "in charge of a series of 

tests performed to determine certain wound ballistics on circumstances 

analagous to the underlying facts of wounds inflicted upon President Kennedy 

and Governor Connally on Novenfoer 22, 1963". In the course of these tests he 

used the Mannlicher-Carcano rifle and the same type of ammunition allegedly 

used by Lee Harvey Oswald to shoot President Kennedy and Governor Connally.

It frequently happens that in tests conducted to confirm or refute 

physical hypotheses, it is not possible to duplicate precisely the original 

conditions. It is axiomatic, however, that before such tests can be given 

serious notice, every effort will have been made to duplicate these condi­

tions insofar as it is possible. Did Dr. Olivier's tests meet this basic 

requirement? The answer is unequivocal and negative J from his own description 

of his procedures, they failed utterly to do so.

Dr. Olivier explained to the Commission that in the conduct of his 

tests he used gelatin blocks (to simulate muscle tissue) as well as animal 

and human cadaver parts. Bullets from the Mannlicher-Carcano rifle were 

fired into these substances, ostensibly to conpare the resulting wounds with 

those of President Kennedy and Governor Connally; as well as to conpare the 

effects on the respective bullets. To simulate the President's neck, 

gelatin blocks and boxed horsemeat and goatmeat of the appropriate thickness 

(I3J-IL2 cm.) were used. In simulating the wounds of Governor Connally a 

goat was utilized for the back and chest wounds, and the forearm of a human 

cadaver for the wrist wound. But these test targets were not arranged so
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that a single bullet could be fired through all of them at once, as was 

allegedly the case with 399 and the human targets of November 22. Nor, even, 

vras ary attempt made to simulate all of the Governor's wounds by firing a 

single bullet through both the body target (the goat) and the cadaver wrist. 

(Apparently no attempt was made to simulate the Governor’s thigh wound.)

It is obviously well within the range of Dr. Olivier's abilities 

and the technical means at his disposal to have arranged the target sub­

stances in the appropriate manner. The Commission's failure to insist on 

such a procedure does little to inspire confidence in the validity of the 

experiments. Nevertheless, it is interesting to note the reported results.

Dr. Olivier is asked to compare a bullet (C.E. 853), fired 

through the goat, with 399 J an erroneous comparison* since 399 has had 

imputed to it a far heavier assignment. Even so, the comparison is not 

favorable to the Commission*

Dr. Olivier* The bullet (goat-test bullet #853) has been quite flattened . . .

the bullet (399) recovered from the stretcher has not been flattened 
as much . . . our particular bullet (#853) is flattened the whole 

length . . .

Dr. Olivier further informs the Commission that "the amount of goat tissue 

it (#853) traversed was probably somewhat less than the Governor . . . "

Or. Olivier was also asked to compare another test bullet (#856) 

with 399. In this case the test bullet had been fired through the forearm 

of a cadaverJ again, performing only one of the multiple tasks allegedly 

executed by 399. Even so, the difference in the appearance of 856 and 399 

is striking, as the former is grossly deformed. In response to Mr.

Specter's request that he describe the wrist-test bullet. Or. Olivier
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says* . .the nose of the bullet is quite flattened from striking the

radius".

Mr. Specter* How does it compare, for example, with Commission Exhibit 399?

Dr. Olivier* It is not like it at all. I mean Commission Exhibit 39 9 is not 

flattened on the end. This one (856) is very severely flattened on 

the end.

But, as we have already seen, Mr. Specter is not a man easily discouraged. 

Undismayed by this most unsatisfactory comparison, he presses on . . .

Mr. Specter* Do you have an opinion as to whether, in fact, bullet #399 did 

cause the wound on the Governor's wrist, assuming if you will that 

it was the missile found on the Governor's stretcher at Parkland 

Hospital?

. . . and succeeds;

Dr. Olivier* i believe that it was. That is ny feeling.

We cannot know what Dr. Olivier's "feeling" might have been had 

Mr. Specter not appended the rather restrictive qualification to his question. 

Phrased as it was. Dr. Olivier could have answered in no other way without 

immediately raising serious doubts as to the legitimacy of 399.

Since the Commission was apparently unperturbed by Dr. Olivier's 

grossly inaccurate reconstruction of its own double-hit hypothesis, we 

should not wonder at its lack of curiosity as to why a goat was used for 

Governor Connally's body wounds when human cadavers were available* Nor 

should it surprise us that only these two test bullets — #853 and #856—

*A month earlier, in response to a question from Specter Trith respect to the 
double-hit hypothesis. Colonel Finck had replied, " . . .we would need 
experiments and similar circumstances with the same type of ammunition at the 
same distance through two human cadavers, which I did not do".
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are presented in evidence, although Dr. Olivier's testimony makes clear 

that other test bullets of the same type were also used. Under the 

circumstances, the suspicion is justified that other test bullets would have 
been presented had they lent credence to the Commission's case.

The tests as conducted are totally worthless as support for the 

Commission's theories. Nor do they help unravel the nystery of the rela­

tively undistorted condition of 399, and its role in the assassination. On 

the contrary, to the extent that the tests show anything, they tend to prove 

not only that 399 did not achieve a double hit, but that it was not even 

involved in the wounding of Governor Connally. The likelihood of its having 

been involved in the wounding of President Kennedy will be considered later.

* * * * * * * *
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Commission Exhibit 399

This is the bullet which the barren Commission 
insists pierced President Kennedy's neck; then 
pierced Governor Connally's chest from back to 
front, fracturing his rib; then pierced his 
right wrist, shattering the bones; then pene­
trated his left thigh. The Commission further 
insists that this bullet left the numerous 
metal fragments found in the Governor's body.

Commission Exhibit 856
This is a bullet (of the same type es 399), which 
was test fired for the Commission through the 
wrist of a human cadaver.
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The Warren Commission says that a "nearly whole" bullet (399)) 

which had fallen from a wound in Governor Connally's leg, was found on his 

stretcher in a corridor at Parkland Hospital by senior engineer Darrell C. 

Tomlinson. We shall presently examine the evidence on which the Commission 

bases its premisej but first we will turn our attention to the stretchers 

themselves.

Shortly after Governor Connally was transferred from his 

stretcher to an operating table, the stretcher was pushed onto an elevator 

by an orderly. Sometime thereafter, Tomlinson removed an empty stretcher 

from the same elevator, and placed it in a corridor on the ground floor —  

next to another stretcher which was already there. The Commission concludes 

that it was Governor Connally's stretcher that Tomlinson removed from the 

elevator; and that the stretcher already in the corridor at the time was un­

connected with either victim.

The evidence, albeit circumstantial, appears to adequately 

support the Commission’s conclusion that neither of the two stretchers could 

have been President Kennedy's. Tomlinson testifies that on November 22, he 

went to the elevator at approximately 1:00 P.1,1., found an empty stretcher 

there, and moved it into the corridor next to the second stretcher. But at 

1:00 P.IvI., President Kennedy’s body was still lying on his stretcher in 

another room of the emergency area. He was not lifted off it into a coffin 

until sometime after 1:U0 P.M. Therefore, if Tomlinson is anywhere near 

correct as to the 1:00 F.M. time he gives, neither the stretcher he removed 

from the elevator nor the one he found in the corridor could possibly be 

President Kennedy’s. Furthermore, unlike either the corridor or the 

elevator stretcher, President Kennedy’s had been stripped of all sheets and
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paraphernalia after he was lifted from it, leaving only a rubber mattress, 

after which it was pushed into a nearby empty room. There is no indication 

that it was moved from there anytime thereafter —  near the elevator or 

elsewhere.

To believe, then, that either of the two stretchers of which Tom­

linson speaks could have been President Kennedy's, one must believe the 

following *

that some unknown person replaced sheets on the President's stretcher after 

they had been removed; that some unknown person then wheeled it onto the 

elevator or into the corridor; that this was done prior to Tomlinson's 

initial arrival at the elevator; and therefore, that Senior Engineer 

Tomlinson was in error by at least forty minutes in giving the 1 ?00 P.M. 

time for his arrival there.*

On the other hand, the Commission's conclusion that the elevator 

stretcher taken off by Tomlinson was indeed Governor Connally's is not 

adequately supported. While it is quite clear that the Governor's stretcher 

was placed on the elevator, and that Tomlinson sometime thereafter did 

remove a stretcher from the elevator, there is no evidence that during the 

interval Governor Connally's stretcher was not taken off by someone else; 

which would then indicate that the stretcher subsequently removed by 

Tomlinson was an entirely different one, also unconnected with either 

victim. What emerges then is the following»

1. Tomlinson "found" a bullet on one of two stretchers in 

the corridor, near the elevator.

2. It is most unlikely that either of these stretchers had 
been used by President Kennedy (the Commission itself

♦Unfortunately (and -unlike numerous other hospital personnel), no written 
statement by Tomlinson appears in evidence detailing his activities that 
day. Such a statement could have served to substantiate his recollection 
of the time.
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excludes the possibility).

3. It is possible that either of them could have been used 

by Governor Connally (the Commission concludes that the 

elevator stretcher was the Governor’s).

It is time now to turn our attention to the "finding” of 

bullet 399.

* * * * * * * *
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• • If

As is frequently the case, when dealing with matters vitally 

effecting its conclusions, the Commission is vague and somewhat contradictory 

in referring to the "finding" of bullet 399. It is variously described as 

having been " . . .  found on Governor Connally's stretcher"} as having 

" • . . rolled out • . • after one of the stretchers (was bumped) against

the wall . . ."; and as having " . . .  rolled off the Stretcher used by
)

Governor Connally". Tomlinson himself says* '

Mr. Tomlinson? I pushed it (a stretcher) back against the wall.

Mr. Specter* What, if anything, happened then?

Mr. Tomlinson» I bumped the wall and a spent cartridge or bullet rolled out 

that apparently had been lodged under the edge of the mat.

Later, he adds:

. . .  I made several trips before I discovered it on the end there.

Despite his rather ambiguous references, Tomlinson seems to be indicating 

that he first saw the bullet on the stretcher immediately after burping it 

against the wall; and he assumes it had rolled onto the stretcher from under 

the mat folded at one end. A sirple question or two by Specter could have 

clarified at least this point, but they were not asked. (Tomlinson explains 

that the two stretchers had been about two feet from the corridor wall, near 

the door to the men's room. An "intern or doctor" moved a stretcher away 

from the wall "to get in" to the men's room, and when he failed to replace 

it on leaving, Tomlinson pushed it against the wall and " . . .  a bullet 

rolled out . . .")

Furthermore, the Commission's conclusion that Tomlinson "found"
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the bullet on Governor formally's stretcher i3 not only unsupported by any­

thing Tomlinson said, but is contrary to his repeatedly stated view that he 

believes it -was the corridor stretcher •which he pushed against the wall}

.just before he "discovered11 the bullet on it. Bub since it has been shown 

(as the Commission definitely concludes) that the corridor stretcher was 

most probably unconnected with either victim, there would be no legitimate 

•wav an assassination bullet could have come from it.

To avoid this ominous pitfall, %)ecter subjects Tomlinson to 

relentless pressure in order to change his belief that it was the corridor 

stretcher he bumped against the Trail. But despite the badgering by Specter 

(and previous questioning by the FBI and Secret Service), Tomlinson makes it. 

abundantly clear that he continues to believe it was the corridor stretcher* 

and not the one he took off the elevator* that he bumped against the wall, 

and from which he retrieved the bulletj although he is not sure to the point 

of being willing to take an oath to that effect.

It is equally clear, however, that Mr. Specter is unwilling —  if 

he can help it —  to leave on the record Tomlinson's belief that the bullet 

was found on a stretcher which the Commission says was unconnected with the 

assassination. He continues to press Tomlinson*

Mr. Specter* When I first started to ask you about this, Mr. Tomlinson, you 

initially identified stretcher A (the one Tomlinson believes the 

bullet did not come from) as the one which came off the elevator 

car?

Mr. Tomlinson* Yes; I think it's just like that.

Mr. Specter* And, then, when —

At this point, Mr. Specter succeeds, if not in getting Tomlinson to abandon



21

The above sketch was made by Darrell C. Tomlinson to illus­
trate the hospital corridor and stretcher arrangement#

The sketch below is of the same area* and is presented for 
greater clarity# It is not a Commission exhibit* and is 
not drawn to scale#
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his belief* at least in getting his goat.

Mr. Tomlinson: (interrupting) Here's the deal —  I rolled that thing off,

. . . got a call, and went to the second floor, picked the man up 

and brought him down. He went . . . and picked up two pints of 

. . . blood. . . . (then) we took off for the second floor and I 

came back to the ground. Now I don't know how many people hit 

them —  I don't know about what could have happened to them in 

between the time I was gone, and I made several trips before I dis­

covered the bullet on the end of it there.

Tomlinson's implication that something "could have happened" to the stretchers 

while he was gone, shortly before he discovered the bullet, suggests two 

possibilities. The first is innocent enough; that someone, on his way 

through the corridor or into the men's room, may have moved the stretchers 

around during Tomlinson's absence, thus confusing him as to whether the 

stretcher on which he "found" the bullet was or was not the same one he dis­

covered in the corridor. But the second possibility is anything but 

innocent; that in hi3 absence someone may have placed the bullet on the 

stretcher.

Obviously, the second alternative immediately raises the dark cloud 

of conspiracy; and, if nothing else, the printed record of the Commission's 

work is historical proof that at no time did it make a serious attenpt to 

explore sinister alternatives to its Oswald-the-lone-assassin theory. An 

adequate investigation would have made every effort to determine who the 
"intern or doctor" was who pushed the stretcher as he entered the men's room; 

as well as to locate and question all other persons who may have had access 

to them, in the corridor or elsewhere. But by no stretch of the imagination 

can the Warren Commission's efforts be factually described as an adequate 

investigation; and no such individuala were called.
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Possibly, the innocent alternative may have emerged as the correct 

one, had such an effort been made. But possibly not. Perhaps further 

investigation would render more suspect the background of bullet 399. If one 

is determined not to draw sinister conclusions regardless of the facts, best 

not to tread on hazardous ground. At aiy rate, Mr. Specter takes no notice 

of either possibility implicit in Tomlinson’s provocative remark. Instead 

of a relevant response, he chooses to ignore the implications, and continues 

to harass Tomlinson J

Mr. Specter» You think, then . . .  that this could have been either, you 

took out of the elevator . . .  or you just can't be sure?

Mr. Tomlinson: It could be, but I can't be positive or positively sure —

I think it was A (the stretcher which he believes did not contain 

the bullet), but I'm not sure.

Mr. Specter* Now, before I started to ask you questions, which have been taken 

down here, I told you . . .  that the Secret Service man wrote a 

report where he said that the bullet was found on the stretcher 

which you took off of the elevator.

Mr. Tomlinson* Yes; you told me that.

Mr. Specter: And there was a lot of confusion that day, which is what you

told me before?

Mr. Tomlinson? Absolutely. And new, honestly, I don't remember telling him 

definitely —  I knew we talked about it, and I told him that it 
could have been-. Now, he might have dr awed his own conclusion on

that
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Mr. Specter? You joist don’t remember for sure -whether you told him you 

thought it was A or not?

Mr. Tomlinson? No, sirj I really don't remember. I'm not accustomed to

being questioned by the Secret Service and the FBI and by you and 

they are -writing down everything, I mean.11

Tomlinson's exasperated protest brings a solicitous reply from Specter*

Mr. Specter: That's all right. I understand exactly -what you're saying . . .

and I really just -want to get your best recollection . . . and I 

appreciate that, and so does the President's Commission, and that 

is all we can ask a man.

Mr. Tomlinson? Yes, I'm going to tell you all I can, and I'm not going to 

tell you something I can't lay down and sleep at night Tilth 

either.

* * * * * * * *
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The murkiness of the stretcher-of-origin question makes it possible 

to sympathize with Commission member Allen Dulles in the perplexity he dis­

plays, during Dr. Humes' testimony on March 16, 1961*.

Mr. Dulles* Could I ask a question about the missile, I am a little bit —  

the bullet. I am a little bit —  confused. It was found on the 

stretcher. Did the President's body remain on the stretcher while 

he was in the hospital? . . .  Otherwise it seems to me the bullet 

would have to have been ejected from the body before he was taken 

or put on the bed in the hospital.

Note that four months after the assassination, and therefore four months after 

the autopsy report ostensibly revealed that the bullet which struck President 

Kennedy in the back had exited from his throat, Mr. Dulles is still under a 

different impression; that the bullet did not exit from the President's throat 

at all, but had fallen from his body back through its own entrance wound, onto 

his stretcher.

At least the idea that a bullet was found on the President's 

stretcher is in line with early press reports that mentioned a stretcher 

bulletj but it is apparent that no one has informed Mr. Dulles of the 

Commission's yet-to-be adopted double-hit theory, which made it mandatory that 

the bullet that entered President Kennedy's back not come to rest in his 

body; for in order to account for the wounding of Governor Connally, it had 

much work remaining to do.

While Mr. Dulles' belief that 399 was found on the President's 

stretcher may have seemed plausible in relation to the earlier hypothesis 

that it had fallen from his body, it obviously was no longer tenable if 399 
was now to exit from the President's throat, and go on to wound Governor
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Connally. It is clear that if a "double-hit" bullet was to be legitimately 

found on any stretcher, it could only be Governor Connally's.

Furthermore, by this time Mr. Specter must have been aware that 

while it was entirely possible that one of the stretchers in the corridor 

where 399 was "found" had been used by Governor Connally, it was also highly 

inprobable that either had been used by President Kennedy. Therefore, once 

again, the only stretcher such a bullet could have come from legitimately 

was the Governor's.

Mr. Specter then proceeds to bring Mr. Dulles up to date on the 

impending version of where bullet 399 was "found".

Mr. Specter j There has been other evidence, 14?. Dulles. If I may say at 

this point, we shall produce later, subject to sequential proof, 

evidence that the stretcher on which this bullet was found was the 

stretcher of Governor Connally. We have a sequence of events on 

the transmission of that stretcher which ties down reasonably 

closely, so that on the night of the autopsy itself, as the informa­

tion I have been developing indicates, the thought preliminarily was 

that was from President Kennedy's stretcher, and that is what led to 

the hypothesis which we have been exploring about, but which has 

since been rejected. But at a n y rate the evidence will show that it 

was from Governor Connally's stretcher that the bullet was found.

The reader can judge for himself whether the subsequent testimony of Tomlin­

son, which we have already examined, justifies Specter's prediction that 

" . . . the evidence will show that it -was from Governor Connally' s stretcher 

that the bullet was found'-'. What is not open to question, however, is the 

fact that Mr. Specter made this prediction four days before taking testimony

from Tomlinson (March 16 v. March 20, 196U)
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Since no other witness testifies to seeing bullet 399 prior to its 

"discovery" by Tomlinson, and since no written statement from Tomlinson 

appears in evidence, it is difficult to understand how Specter could be so 

sure of what " . . .  the evidence will show . . .".

That Specter could come to such a conclusion at that time is fur­

ther evidence that no illegitimate possibilities were considered in connec-
i

tion with the sudden and nysterious appearance of 399. Excluding such 

possibilities, therefore, and assuming the bullet came from one of two i
stretchers] one of which may have been Governor Connally's, and the other un­

connected with the assassination, it is easy to see what the conclusion had 

to be. And if the circumstances surrounding the discovery of the bullet —  

as described by the man who "found" it —  contradicted the pre-selected con­

clusion, then the description, and not the conclusion, must be deemed incorrect.
j

But even after Specter's lengthy "explanation", Dulles, small wonder, 

is still not clear on the bullet/stretcher matters

Mr. Dulles» So this bullet is still missing?

(Since earlier testimony had given no indication that bullet 399 was lost, Mr.

Dulles' query suggests that off-the-record conversations had taken place 

previously on this matter.)

Mr. Specters That is a subject of some theories I am about to get into.

That is an elusive subject . . .

As to this conclusion, at least, it would be difficult to argue with Mr.

Specter.

* * * * * * * *
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VIII

There are in evidence three documents which relate to the "stretcher 

bullet'S subsequently identified as Commission Exhibit 399.

The first is a note from Secret Service Special Agent Richard E. 

Johnsen (Commission Exhibit 102U) dated Noventoer 22* 1963, 7*30 P«M., 

covering his transmittal of the bullet, and addressed presumably to his 

superior (no addressee appears on the note as reproduced and it appears to 

have been cropped immediately above the first line). The note reads as 

follows*

The attached expended bullet was received by me about 

5 rain., prior to Mrs. Kennedy's departure from the hospital. 

It was found on one of the stretchers located in the emer­

gency ward of the hospital. Also on this same stretcher 

was rubber gloves, a stethescope and other doctor's para­

phernalia. It could not be determined who had used this 

stretcher or if President Kennedy had occupied it. No 

further information was obtained.

Name of person from who I received this bullet *

Mr. 0. P. Wright
Personnel Director of Security
Dallas County Hospital District

By

Richard E. Johnsen
Special Agent
7*30 n.m.
Nov. 22, 1963

The reference to "rubber gloves, stethescope} and other doctors' 

paraphernalia” indicates that the stretcher to which Johnsen refers is the
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1 UNITED STATES COVF.RNMKKT

Memorandum
< # . *

Tit : Chief Jarco .T. Hnwloy datk: wovtinl/ r Vff3

from : SA Johnson -  White House Do U ti l
o.._ r*

subject: A ^ tivit.i**a of Reporting Agent on November ?2« 196}

/Approximately 5 •'drmton prior to leaving the hospital with tho casket and \
I / Mrs. Kennedy I was instructed to retrain at the Presidential door and-wait 1 
I to be advised tbat the casket was leaving the hospital and then to ride I
the follow-op car to the airport. ̂ During this period a ISr. Vright fror. \

i the security staff cane to me with an expended bullet and wished to'ttra 
it over to a Secret Service Agent. The only information I was able to get 
from 'r.im prior to the departure of Mrs. Kennedy and the casket was that 
the bullet had been found on a stretcher which President iennedy may have I 
been placed on. He also stated that he found rubber gloves, a stethoscope,/ 

\and other doctors' paraphernalia on this same stretcher?) J /

On the drive from the.hosrital to AF #1 I rode the follow-up car. Upon orr 
arrival at AT #1 I assisted in Discing the casket upon USA? #26000. While 
aval tinr for the departure'lif AF #1 T was instructed by STSAIC Stout to ride 
in the rear of the plane with the casket. This had been a request of Presi­
dent Johnson.

i Upon our arrival at Andrews Air Force Base, Md., I positioned myself near 
’ the press area. After the statement to the press by President Johnson I

helicopter fZ to the White House.
1

APPJDVEDl / r^ £ Q i L ^
Richard £. Johnson

CeraId A. Behn SA 1-16
SAIC lw !6 n  • •

Com mission ExttiniT 1024— Continued

”Th» attached expended bullet wee received bv m  ebeut "
S aln., prior to Mre. Kennedy's departure from the hospital.
It waa found on one of the stretchere leceted in the emergencyj •
ward of tho hospital. Also on this sane stretcher was rubber!̂

 Sieves, a etetheaeepe and other doctor's paraphernalia. It 
could hot bo dotonalaad the had uaod this stretcher or If 1 
President Kennedy had occupied It. Ho further Intonation 
was obtained.
Haste of person toon the I received this bullet!

Hr. 0. P. Wright
Personnel Director of Security
Dellas County Hospital District

► *

Commihhion E x i i ir it  1 0 2  A-MTon Untied »y

Ilchard t .  Johnson
i •p e d a l Agent

_7tJ0 p.n.___
®fVg 22^^965
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same one Tomlinson identified as the original corridor stretcher (the one 

•which the Commission concludes was unconnected with the assassination), and 

not the elevator stretcher, which it concludes -was Governor Connally*3. 

(Tomlinson describes the stretcher he found on the elevator as having 

"sheets on it and had a •white covering on the pad," and that he " . . . 

don't believe there was anything else) on that one . . . 11 ♦ On the other 

hand* he describes the original corridor stretcher as having "one or two" 

bloody sheets 11 . . . rolled up on the east end of it and there were a few 

surgical instruments on the opposite end and a sterile pack or so".)

The second document (also included in Commission Exhibit 102U) is 

a memorandum from Agent Johnsen to Secret Service Chief James J. Rowley, 

dated November 3°» 1963. The pertinent portion of this memo repeats 

essentially the same information given in his earlier transmittal note, but 

explicitly reveals that hospital security director, O.P. Wright told Johnsen 

that he himself had seen the various medical articles on the same stretcher 

on which the bullet was "found".

" . . .  The only information I was able to get from him (Wright) 

prior to the departure of Mrs. Kennedy and the casket was that the bullet had 

been found on a stretcher which President Kennedy may have been placed on.

He also stated that he found rubber gloves, a stethescope, and other doctors' 

paraphernalia on this same stretcher . . .  11

Both the above documents, by furnishing corroboration for 

Tomlinson's belief that the bullet came from the stretcher that held bloody 

sheets and medical instruments, strengthen the possibility that by so doing, 

it came from a stretcher that had nothing to do with either victim. Why Mr. 

Specter did not refer to these during Tomlinson's testimony, or use them to 

test the accuracy of his recollection, can only be surmised.



UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE 
« m i h  busbar or in tb s t io a t io h

Dallas, Texas
July 7, 1H4

“« ift.Msii.wa,
■y latter dated May 20, 1904, the President's Co— lesion 

requested the tracing of rarlous itena of physical erldsnoe. Pur­
suant to this request, the following Infcruetion is submitted•

If I. MjBX-Wife,

On June 12, 1964, Darrell C. Tcaltneoa, Kalateaaaee 
Enplofee* Parkland acspltal, Dallas, Terra, was shown Exhibit .
Cl, a rifle slug, by Special Agent Bardvell D. Odun, Federal 
Bureau of Investigation. Toxllaaoa stated it appears to be the 
sane one he found oa a hospital carriage at Parkland Hospital 
oa Boveaher 22, 1963, but he cannot positively identify the bullet 
as the ece he fvrxd and shoved to Nr. O. P. Wright. At the tine 
he found the bullet, the hospital carriage was located in the 
Emergency Chit en the ground floor of the hospital.

Cta June 12, 1964, O. P. Wright, Paraesmel Officer,
Parkland Hospital, Dallas, Texas, advised Special Agent Bardvell 
D. Odun that Exhibit Cl, s rifle slug, shown to hla at the tins 
I of the interview, looks like the slug found at Parkland Hospital 
oa Bovsuber 22, 19(3, which ha gave to Richard Jchnsea, Special 
Agent of the Secret Serrlce. Ea stated ha was not present at the 
tins the bullet was found, but oa the afternoon of I or enter 22,
1963, as he entered the Enargency Unit ca the ground floor of 
the hospital, Kr. Toulir.ean, sn snployss, called to him sad pointed 
out a bullet, which vss oa s hospital carriage it that location.
Be sstlmtad the tlx* sa being within aa hour of the tins President 
remedy and Governor Cmnally vara brought to the hospital. Be 
advised he could not positively identify Cl aa being the sane bullet 
which waa found on Boveaber 22, 1963.

Ca June 24, 1964, Special Agent Richard E. Johnson, 
exited States Secret Service, Wtchingtm, D. C., waa ehersn Exhibit 
Cl, a rifle bullet, by Special Agent liner Lee ?cdd. Federal Eureaa 
cf Investigation. Johnson advised he cruld not identify this bullet 
as the eta he obtained frees O. P. Wright, Parkland Brspltal, Da Ilea, 
Taxes, and j i t s  to Janes Rowley, Chief, United States Secret Service, 
Washington, D. C., oa Sweater 22, 1963.

On Jose 24, 1364, Janes Rowley, Chief, United States 
Secret Service, Wsahingtaw, D. C., wte shown Exhibit Cl, a rifle 
bullet, by Special Agent Elaer Lae Todd. Rowley advised he could 
not identify this bullet aa the one he raceived fro* Special Agent 
Richard t. Johncen end gave te Special Agent Todd ea fovonber 22, • 
1963.

On June 24, 1964, Special Agent Elver Lee Todd, Washington,
D. C., identified Cl, a rifle bullet, ae being the sane one he received 
fro* Janes Rowley, Chief, united States Secret Service, Washington,
D. C., on Bovenber 22, 1963. This Identification was aade fron ini­
tials narked thereon by Special Agent Todd at the Federal Bursae ef 
Investlgatloa Laboratory upon receipt.

Commission Exhibit No. 2011—Continued
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The third document (Commission Exhibit 2011) is an unsigned letter 

on FBI letterhead* dated July 7* 196b* Dallas* Texas. It's ostensible purpose 

is explained in its opening paragraphs

REt Lee Harvey Oswald 

By letter dated May 20, 196U, the President's Commission re­

quested the tracing of various items of physical evidence.

Pursuant to this request, the following information is 

submitted • . .

(the letter then purports to trace various items; bullets* bullet fragments, 

shells, clothing, hair, etc. The section relating to "bullet Cl" —  which is 

the FBI's designation for the missile the Commission later calls C.E. 399 —  

is reproduced below;(underlines added)»

On June 12, 196U, Darrell C. Tomlinson, Maintenance Employee,

Parkland Hospital, Dallas, Texas was shown Exhibit Cl, a rifle slug, 

by Special Agent Bardwell D. Odum, Federal Bureau of Investigation. 

Tomlinson stated it appears to be the same one he found on a hospital 

carriage at Parkland Hospital on November 22, 1963, but he cannot 

positively identify the bullet as the one he found and showed to 

Mr. 0. P. Wright. At the time he found the bullet, the hospital 

carriage was located in the Emergency Unit on the ground floor of 

the hospital.

On June 12, 196U, 0. P. Wright, Personnel Officer, Parkland 

Hospital, Dallas, Texas, advised Special Agent Bardwell D. Odum 

that Exhibit Cl, a rifle slug, shown him at the time of the 

interview, looks like the slug found at Parkland Hospital on 

November 22, 1963, which he gave to Richard Johnsen, Special Agent

of the Secret Service. He stated he was not present at the time
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the bullet was found) but on the afternoon of November 22, 1 9 6 } ,  

as he entered the Emergency Unit on the ground floor of the 

hospital, Mr. Tomlinson, an employee called to him and pointed out 

a bullet, which was on a hospital carriage at that location. He 

estimated the time as being within an hour of the time President 

Kennecty- and Governor Conally were brought to the hospital. He 

advised he could not positively identify Cl as being the same bullet 

which was found on November 22, 1963.

On June 2h> 196U, Special Agent Richard E. Johnsen, United States 

Secret Service, Washington, D. C., was shown Exhibit Cl, a rifle 

bullet, by Special Agent Elmer Lee Todd, Federal Bureau of 

Investigation. Johnsen advised he could not identify this bullet 

as the one he obtained from 0. P. Wright, Parkland Hospital, Dallas, 

Texas, and gave to James Rowley, Chief, United States Secret 

Service, Washington, D.C., on November 22, 1963.

On June 2U, 196U, James Rowley, Chief, United States Secret Service, 

Washington, D. C., was shown Exhibit Cl, a rifle bullet, by 

Special Agent Elmer Lee Todd. Rowley advised he could not identify 

this bullet as the one he received from Special Agent Richard E. 

Johnsen and gave to Special Agent Todd on November 22, 1963.

On June 2U, 196U, Special Agent Elmer Lee Todd, Washington, D. C., 

identified Cl, a rifle bullet, as being the same one he received 

from James Rowley, Chief, United States Secret Service, Washing­

ton, D. C., on November 22, 1963. This identification was made 

from initials marked thereon by Special Agent Todd at the Federal

Bureau of Investigation Laboratory upon receipt.
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It is often the case that Commission exhibits raise as mary 

questions as they answer. These three documents are such exhibits.

During Tomlinson's testimony, when Specter informed him that a 

Secret Service report said the bullet had been found on a stretcher which Tom­

linson had removed from the elevator, Tomlinson replied that the agent 

11 . . . might have dr awed his ovm conclusion on that". Tomlinson says that 

he was interviewed by the Secret Service 11 . . . the first part of December 

(1963)11. Where is this alleged report? Clearly, it could not be either of . 

the two Johnsen documents; not only do they both bear November dates, but 

neither of them mentions an elevator stretcher, nor any personal interview 

between the Secret Service and Tomlinson. Furthermore, Specter does not 

indicate its date, does not name the secret service agent who made it, does 

not show it to Tomlinson, and nowhere does it appear in evidence.

The FBI letter has its own quota of strange aspects. Its reference 

to the Commission’s request for tracing dated May 20, 196U, indicates that 

until six months after the assassination the Commission did not even request 

a trace of the mysterious 399; despite the obviously suspicious implications 

raised many weeks (and even months) earlier by the relevant testimony of ary 

of the Drs. Humes, Finck, Olivier, Shaw, or Gregory? or FBI firearms expert 

Frazier.

Also, of the four individuals listed who supposedly handled "Cln 

(bullet 399) from the time of its discovery by Tomlinson to its receipt by 

the FBI in Washington, none was able to identify it. And, as with the Secret 

Service documents, there is a problem of datesj for Tomlinson states that he 

was interviewed by an FBI agent during 11 . . . the latter part of November 

(1963)”, and that " . . .  he asked me about the stretcher . . . the same

. This clearly is not the same interviewthing we've gone over here11
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referred to in the FBI letter as having taken place "On June 12, 196h". An 

FBI report of an interview with Tomlinson in November, 1963, would indicate 

a time when his recollection of his activities at Parkland Hospital would be 

fresher, by more than six months, than during the June 12th, 196U interview. 

Yet, no such November report is presented in evidence. Nor is Agent Odum’s 

report of the June 12th interview presented} reference to it being made only 

in the IBI letter to the Commission.

If these omitted documents supported the Commission’s version of 

399*s origin, and contained no information further clouding its authenticity, 

why were they not presented?

V/hy did Mr. Specter not ask for a more specific description from 

Tomlinson of precisely where he "found" the bullet?

Why wasn’t Tomlinson asked what he did with it after "finding" it? 

(Since Tomlinson's testimony was taken on March 20, 196U, Specter would have 

to have been again engaging in clairvoyance to know that the FBI letter, 

dated July 7, 1961, would"reveal" that after discovering the bullet, Tomlinson 

called 0. P. Wright and "pointed out a bullet which was on a hospital 

carriage at that location").

Why was personnel Director, 0. P. Wright not even called to testify, 

although it was from him that Secret Service Agent Johnsen says, in his two 

reports, that he received the bullet} and to him that the FBI letter says 

Tomlinson gave it?

By failing to call Mr. Wright, the Commission also avoided an 

opportunity to ask him about a startling lapse; that nowhere in the entire 

course of his four-page, single-spaced, typewritten report to Hospital 

Administrator, C. J. Price (dated Dec. U, 1963, and whose subject is listed
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as "Activities from 12^30 P.M., November 22 through November 2$, 1963”), does 

Wright mention anything about the bullet; not its discovery} nor his receipt 

of it, nor his transmittal of it to Agent Johnsen. Yet, three paragraphs of 

Wright1s carefully detailed statement are taken up with his receipt, possess­

ion, and transmittal to the Secret Service of President Kennedy's wrist watch.

It is incredible that in the course of relating his activities, Mr. 

Wright could forget so singular an occurrence as his handling of an assassina­

tion bullet. In failing to have Wright testify in order to clarify this 

incomprehensible omission, the Commission displays once again that gross lack 

of curiosity so characteristic of its conduct from beginning to end. It is 

consistent with this pattern that neither Secret Service Agent Johnsen, nor 

FBI Agent Odum (who, according to the FBI letter questioned both Tomlinson 

and Wright) were called to testify.

That such an obviously inadequate effort was made by the Commission 

in tracing so critical a piece of evidence is inexcusable. In fact, the 

record justifies the conclusion that it carefully avoided any real inquiry 

into the background, discovery, and chain of possession of bullet 399.

* * * * * * * *
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To the extent that it is possible to do so from a gleaning of 

testimony and exhibits (the Johnsen documents and the FBI letter)} and bear­

ing in mind the undissipated clouds which engulf bullet 399J reconstructed 

below is its chain of possession, from the time of its "discovery" at Park­

land Hospital on November 22, 1963, until its reported use by FBI Agents 

Odum and Todd respectively, on June 12 and June 2h> 196U, in their fruitless 

attempts to have it identified by any of the four people who had allegedly 

handled it prior to its FBI custody!

1. Darrell C. Tomlinson, senior engineer, Parkland Hospital! 

Discovered bullet on a stretcher in a corridor of the hospital 

emergency area between is00 and 1*50 p.m., November 22, 1963. 
Called 0. P. Wright and "pointed out" bullet. (Tomlinson 

testifies, but is asked very little about his finding of the 

bullet} and nothing about its appearance or his handling and 

disposition of it. Unlike most other hospital personnel, no 

■written report covering his activities appears in evidence} 

unable to identify 399 as the bullet he "found").

2. 0. P. Wright, Personnel Officer, Parkland Hospital!

Received bullet from Tomlinson} or removed it from stretcher 

after it was "pointed out" by Tomlinson l!00 - li£0 p.m., 

November 22-. Gave it to Richard E. Johnsen shortly thereafter. 

(Wright not called to testify. No direct statement from him in 

evidence referring to bullet. He failed to mention it in 
lengthy report, to hospital administrator, concerning his 

activities November 22 - November 2 $ (1963), although detailing 

his handling of President Kennedy’s wrist watch. Unable to
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identify 399 as bullet he handled.)

3. Richard E. Johnsen, Special Agent, U. S. Secret Services 

Received bullet from 0. P. Wright at Parkland shortly before 

2s00 p.m., Novenber 22, 1963* Transmitted to James Rowley 

same day.

(Johnsen not called to testify. Unable to identify 399 as 

bullet he received from Wright^

U. James J. Rowley, Chief, U. S. Secret Service:

Received bullet from Johnsen on November 22, 1963. Gave it 

to FBI Special Agent Todd same day.

(Rowley testifies July 7» 196k, but is not asked anything about 

the bullet. No written statement from him concerning his posses­

sion of it. On June 2U> 196U, he was unable to identify 399 as 

the bullet received from Johnsen.)

Elmer Lee Todd, Special Agent, FBI:

Received bullet from Rowley in Washington, D. C., Novenber 22, 

1963. Upon receipt, Todd marked bullet with his initials at 

FBI Investigation Laboratory. Gave it to Robert A. Frazier same 

day.

(notes on Todd follow his second entry—  11. — below)

6. Robert A. Frazier, Firearms Identification Expert, FBI:

Received bullet from Todd in FBI laboratory, Washington, D. C., 

November 22, 1963. Frazier put his initials on it.

(information regarding Frazier's relations to 399 given later)

7. John F. Gallagher, spectrographer. Special Agent, FBI:
Made spectrographic examination of bullet, (date not given.
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but apparently prior to March 31, 1966)

(No written statement from Gallagher appears in evidence. He 

was not called to testify- until September 1$, 196U> les3 than 

two weeks prior to publication of the Warren Commission 

Report. His entire seven-page testimony is taken Tip with a dis­

cussion of "neutron activation analysis", as it pertains to a 

determination of whether or not an individual has fired a 

weapon.* Counsel Norman Redlich failed to ask Gallagher a 

single question regarding his spectrographic examination of

»!**

bullet 399.)

(more information relating to Gallagher1s examination of 399 

later)

8. Melvin A. Eiseriberg, assistant counsel, Warren Commissioni 

Received bullet from FBI in Washington, D.C., March 2U> 196U. 

Transmitted it to Joseph D. Nicol same day.

9. Joseph D. Nicol, Superintendent, Bureau of Criminal Identifica­

tion, State of Illinoiss

Received bullet 399 from Eiseriberg in latter's office, (to­

gether with other bullets and fragments), Washington, D. C., 

March 2h> 196U. Made ballistics comparisons with other bullets 

and fragments. Date not given for return of 399 to FBI custody. 

(Nicol testifies April 1, 196U. Counsel Eisenberg failed to ask 

his opinion as to whether or not 399 could have caused Governor 

Connally's wounds.** He states 399» test bullets, and

* The Commission concluded that this technique failed to provide conclusive 
results as related to Oswald.

**Nichol is also associate editor of "Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology-."



fragments allegedly recovered from Presidential car, all 

originated from same weapon; but all sanples were furnished to 

him by FBI through Eisenberg —  he was not given the weapon.* 

Additional information concerning his examination of 399 later.)

10. Bardwell D. Odum, Special Agent, FBI:

On June 12, 1961;, he showed bullet 399 to Tomlinson and Wright. 

They could not identify it as the bullet "found" by Tomlinson 

and handled by Wright.

(Odum not called to testify. No direct written statement from 

him appears in evidence covering his June 12 interviews with 

Tomlinson and Wright. His written report on unrelated matter, 

dated July 10, 1961;» is presented in evidence).

11. Elmer Lee Todd, Special Agent, FBI:

On June 2U, 1961;, he showed bullet 399 to Johnsen and 

Rowley. They could not identify it as the bullet they 

had handled. On same date, Todd identified it, from his 

initials, as same one he .received from Rowley in Washington,

D. C., on Novenioer 22, 1963.

(Todd not called to testify. No direct written statement from

ho BULLET, BULLET,____________________ ? cont.

* Nicol explains his failure to examine the rifle, or to fire test bullets, 
as follows: " . . .  two very basic reasons.

One, the matter of time, and secondly, the fact that I did not 
have facilities in the area where I was working for the collection 
of such tests from a high-powered weapon. There is the other 
problem . . .  it was apparent the weapon in . . . firing . . . was 
undergoing some changes . . . which would make these (test bullets) 
the best specimens rather than those I might fire now . . . "

Eisenberg adds: " . . .  I had been informed by the FBI that 50 or more 
bullets had been fired . . . and that . . . this would seriously 
alter the firing characteristics of the barrel."
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him appears in evidence concerning his June 2 k interviews 

Tfith Johnsen and RowleyJ or his receipt of bullet from 
Rowley on Novenber 22, 1963).

* * * * * * * *
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X "THE BULLET WAS CLEAN . . . »

The testimony of FBI Special Agent Robert A. Frazier, as it relates 
to bullet 399, deserves our particular attention. For twenty-five years 

Frazier has been an FBI firearms expert, having made between 50, 000 -  6 0 , 0 0 0  

firearms and bullet comparisons during that time. As previously noted, he 

first received the bullet subsequently identified as Commission Exhibit 399 

from Special Agent Todd in the FBI laboratory in Washington, November 22, 

1963, and initialed it at that time.

During his testimony of March 31, 196U, he identifies 399 from his 

initials, and states that the bullet then was in the same condition as when 

he received it} except for his initials, those of "other examiners", " . . .  

a discoloration at the nose caused apparently by mounting this bullet in 

some material which stained it", and a " . . . small dent or scraped area 

(where) the spedrqgraphic examiner* removed a small quantity of metal for 

analysis".

Frazier then makes clear that there was no blood or other matter 

visible on the bullet when he received it on November 22*

Mr. Eisenberg* Did you prepare the bullet in ary way for examination? That 

is, did you clean it or in any way alter it?

Mr. Frazier* No, sir} it was not necessary. The bullet was clean and it 

was not necessary to change it in any way.

Here is a surprising revelation by Frazier. Here is a bullet which 

had supposedly gone through the neck of one man, and through the back, chest, 
wrist, and into the thigh of another, smashing bones along the way. One

* Presumably Gallagher, though not named at this time. .
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•would certainly expect that such a missile would have accumulated some amount 

of blood and tissue (even ignoring* for the moment* its intact appearance).* 

Yet * this bullet was clean when received by Frazier within hours of the 

assassination. No wonder Eisenberg’s next question contains a note of 

incredulity *

Mr. Eisenberg* There was no blood or similar material on the bullet when 

you received it?

Mr. Frazier: Not ary which would interfere with the examination, no* sir.

Now there may have been slight traces which could have been removed 

just in ordinary handling, but it wasn’t necessary to actually 

clean blood or tissue off of the bullet.

Frazier’s slight concession does little to solve the Commission's 

dilemma, for Eisenberg failed to inform him of the prodigious and bloody work­

load its hypothesis had imputed to 3 9 9 • Therefore, we cannot know what 

Frazier's opinion might have been as to the amount of blood or tissue he would 

expect to find adhering to such a missile. However, it is an entirely reason­

able assumption that a bullet having traveled the gory path ascribed to 399 by 

the Commission, would, several hours later, still retain some evidence of 

human residue, unless it had been deliborately cleaned.

The chain of possession prior to Frazier's receipt does not reveal 

a likely ”link” that could account for any such possible cleaning. Tomlinson 

either had it only a very short time; or did not handle it at all, but merely 

pointed it out to Wright (the record being ambiguous on this question).

Wright, as chief security officer at Parkland presumably would know enough 

of the importance of bullets as evidence to handle a possible assassination

* See footnote, page 76



lil* "THE BULLET WAS CLEAN . . " cont

bullet -with great care, during his brief custody before turning it over to 

Agent Johnsen. That Johnsen would also be expected to exercise similar (or 

greater) caution in its transmittal to Secret Service Chief Rowley; and 

Rowley in passing it to FBI Special Agent Todd; and Todd in delivering it to 

Frazier at the FBI laboratory, is self-evident.

There is, therefore, no reason to believe that bullet 399 was 

cleaned of human residue prior to its receipt by Frazier, and there is no 

legitimate reason whatever why it should have been.

Nine pages later in his testimony, Frazier is asked by Eisenberg 

about Commission Exhibits £6? and $ 6 9, two bullet fragments reportedly found 

in the Presidential car, which, like 399, Frazier had identified as having 

been fired from the Mannlicher-Carcano rifles

Mr. Eisenberg: Getting back to the two bullet fragments mentioned, Mr.

Frazier, did you alter them in ary way after they had been 

received in the laboratory, by way of cleaning or otherwise?

Mr. Frazier: No sir; there was a very slight residue of blood or some other

material adhering, but it did not interfere with the examination. 

It was wiped off to clean the bullet for examination, but it 

actually would not have been necessary.

Mr. Eisenberg: Is that true on both fragments?

Mr. Frazier: Yes, sir.

A puzzlement. That Frazier found bullet 399 free of blood and

tissue after its alleged bone-crushing, flesh-rending assignment is
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unusual enough.* But the paradox becomes sharper in light of his admission 

that two fragments, reported to have been involved in the wounding, did 

retain such residue —  despite the fact that each was a fraction of the size 

of the conspicuously unmutilated 399, therefore possessing much smaller sur­

faces onto which blood and tissue could adhere.

That Eiseriberg noted the discrepancy is made perfectly clear by 

his next "question" —  if it can be called that.

Mr. Eisenbergs You also mentioned there was blood or some other substance on 

the bullet marked 399. Is this an off-hand determination, or was 

there a test to determine what the substance was?

Mr. Fraziers No, there was no test made of the materials.

'•That can this "question" possibly mean? Nine pages earlier in his 

testimony Frazier stated unequivocally that he observed no blood on bullet 399* 

Now, after being confronted with Frazier's enbarrassing admission that the much 

smaller fragments did have blood on them, Eiseriberg states that Frazier said 

the opposite of what he, in fact, did say; and without asking for Frazier's 

acknowledgment of this reversal, or even pausing to allow time for him to 

comment on it, he proceeds immediately to ask an ambiguous question (did it 

refer to 399, or to the fragments?).

What -possible interpretation can be placed on this weird statement- 
question. other than it was deliberately intended to "correct" Frazier's

* this is especially so when considering the fact that the bullet which 
wounded the Governor was tumbling as it smashed through his wrist, 
thereby presenting sharp and irregular surfaces to the resisting flesh, 
and thus making it even more likely that blood and tissue would be picked up.
Further, recalling Hr. Gregory's reply when pressed to relate bullet 399 to 
the Governor's wrist wound, his sharply qualified endorsement of such a pos­
sibility was restricted solely to a backward-entering, (and therefore cutting- 
edged) bulletj (" . . . the only way this missile could have produced this 
wound is to have entered the wrist backward.")j and therefore, once again, 
precluding the possibility that 399's un—bloodied appearance could be ex­
plained by hypothesizing it had drilled cleanly through the forearm in a 
nose-first condition.



1*6 "THE BULLET WAS CLEAN " cont.

hazardous no-blood-on 399Alood-on-the fragments testimony; or at leasts to 

soften its troublesome effect by confusing; the record?

To make such an accusation is,of course, a serious charge. Un­

fortunately, the Commission's behavior leaves the objective researcher 

little choice but to make it. For the Commission repeatedly —  in scores and 

perhaps hundreds of important instances —  conducts its "investigation11 in 

such a fashion as to allow for only two possible interpretations? Either it 

consistently and deliberately selects, bends, and rejects facts and testimory 

so as to fit a preconceived conclusion —  that the assassination was the 

work of one man, and one man only —  or else it is guilty of incompetence so 

shocking as to be virtually incredible. Since there is no reason to believe 

that the experienced and highly trained attorneys ■who comprised the 

Commission's staff were inconpetent, the former alternative emerges as the 

more likely.

As to Frazier's failure to correct Eisenberg's erroneous quotation 

of himself, the record reveals no definite reason. Perhaps he thought it 

wiser not to make an issue of itj perhaps he was confused by it, and was still 

thinking of the previous question regarding blood on the fragments.

That the latter may have been the case is possibly indicated by 

his reply, "No, there was no test made on the materials11; for if Frazier was 

referring to the fragments —  which, it appears indisputable, were found in 

the President's car and did result from bullets which had struck the victim(s) 

—  it would not be disturbing that tests were not made of the adhering 

substances.

But, if, in total contradiction to his earlier statement, Frazier's 

reply did refer to his having wiped blood from 399 —  a bullet whose back-
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ground even then was very much in doubt —  such deliberate alteration of a 

suspect piece of evidence •would constitute a shocking breach of duty.

The inpression one gets from Frazier's lengthy and highly profes­

sional testimony is that he would not be guilty of such a breach; and there­

fore it is likely that he indeed was thinking of the fragments when 

responding to Eisenberg's stupefying statement/question.

That Frazier's testimony did nothing to enhance the dubious repu­

tation of 399 is finally illustrated by his answer to the following question*

Mr. Eisenberg* How material would you call that defacement (of 399)?

Mr. Frazier* It is hardly visible unless you look at the base of the bullet 

and notice it is not round.

• • . and by the failure of Eisenberg to ask "the next obvious question";*

i.e., whether or not Frazier believed a bullet could have fractured Governor 

Connally's rib and wrist, leaving numerous fragments} and emerge as intact 

and with such "hardly visible" defacement as bullet 399*

* *  * * * * * *

* Penn Jones, Jr., editor of the Midlothian (Texas) Mirror, so characterizes 
the Commission's persistent failure to press obvious leads in testimony 
before it.
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As noted in our reconstruction of the "chain", FBI spectrographic 

expert Gallagher did not testify until two weeks prior to the release of 

the Warren Report. No questions whatever were asked of him regarding bullet 

399, and one would not know from his testimony that he ever examined it.

That Gallagher did indeed do so is revealed by Frazier during his 

testimony of May 13* 1961*, with counsel Specter} although no dates for the 

examination are given or asked. Specter did not inquire of Frazier as to 

whether Gallagher may have detected any blood/tissue residue on 399 during 

his examination} nor was he asked whether the "neutron activation analysis" 

—  whose usefulness in crime-detection is described in fascinating and 

lengthy detail by Gallagher —  could have been errployed to detect such 

traces on 399, and to determine their origin.

Yet another opportunity to learn something about the nysterious 

bullet's history was missed, by Mr. Eiseriberg, in his questioning of Joseph 

D. Nicol, the Illinois firearms expert, on April 1, 1961*. After explaining 

to Eiseriberg his opinion that 399 and the two bullet fragments (C.E. 567 

and 569) originated from the same weapon as did several test bullets 

furnished him, he was asked*

Mr. Eisenberg: Mr. Nicol . . .  is there any further testimony you wish to

give on the subject of the rifle bullets?

Mr. Nicol* The only other work I did was with respect to an examination 

of the nose of (399) to ascertain whether there was any evidence 

of ricochet or perhaps contact with fabric and so on.

However, although there were some fine striations on there, there
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was nothing of such a nature that it would suggest a pattern, 

like a weave pattern or anything of that nature. So that 

except for the nick, which I understand has been explained as 

a site where spectrographic tests were conducted, no further 

tests were run . . .

Lir. Eisenberg» Yes.

But doesn't Nicol's statement at least suggest that a bullet 

which had pierced the clothing of two men might be expected to have 

impressed upon it something suggesting a weave pattern?

And shouldn't a bullet that had smashed bones show some "evidence 

of ricochet"? Eiseriberg's laconic one-word response showed no interest in 

these questions, so clearly implicit in Nicol's intriguing revelations.

Another "next obvious question" unasked; another Commission 

pitfall avoided.

* * * * * * * *
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The strange and suspicious curcumstances surrounding the handling 

of bullet 399 by the Commission raise still other questions -which merit our 

attention. In individual cases, and in the cumulative -weight of some of 

these circumstances, suspicion of 399 *s legitimacy by the FBI itself, as -well 

as the Commission, can be inferred'•

1. Why -was 399 still undergoing tests by the FBI four months 

after the assassination and three months after the FBI had 

submitted its report to the Warren Commission naming Lee 

Harvey Oswald as the lone assassin?

(The bullet -was first presented in evidence by Specter on March 

16, 196Ij, during the testimony of Commander Humes. Specter 

says s lfWe have been asked by the FBI that the missile not be 

handled by anybody because it is undergoing further ballistic 

tests . . .

Joseph Nicol did not receive it for testing until March 2l+, 196U.)

2. Was any attempt made during the FBI tests to analyze 399 for 

possible blood/tissue residue? If not, -why not? If so, why 

are the reports not presented? Why -were these questions not 

asked by the Commission?

3. Why was not a single FBI expert (including Frazier) asked by 

the Commission to state his views as to the possibility of 

399 having caused the multiple -wounds irputed to it?

U. Why did Specter fail to ask Frazier, during his May 13, 196U, 

testimony to establish the chain of possession of bullet 399J 

although requesting him to do so and receiving immediate



DOUBT UPON DOUBT cont. $1

compliance in the cases of the other missiles involved 

(fragments)?

(These missiles, including 399, -were being discussed on May 13« 

Yet, the aforementioned FBI letter of July 7, 196U, indicates 

that the Commission made no request for tracing of 399 until 

May 20, 196U* —  six months after the assassination.)
A*

5.

6.

(Mr. Dulles, March 30, 196U: . . . Did you know anything

about the spent bullet that was found on . . . the litter?

Dr. Perry8 My first knowledge of that was one of the 

newspaper publications had said there was a bullet found 

there. I don't know whether it was or not. I didn’t 

find it.)

. . • and three weeks after that?

(Mr. Dulles, April 21, I96I4.: Did you hear at that time or

have ary knowledge, of a bullet which had been found on a 
stretcher?

IVhat is the meaning of Commissioner Dulles1 enigmatic question 

shortly prior to 399’s introduction into evidence on March 16, 

196U —  four months after the assassination '• "So this bullet 

is still missing?" . . . and of Specter's even more enigmatic 

reply —  "That is the subject of some theories I am about to 

get into. That is an elusive sub.ject . . . "

■Why is Dulles still dubious two weeks after Specter's 

"explanation" . . .

* Also indicating the FBI took seven weeks to make its reply
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Dr. Shaw? Noj this was later knowledge.

Mr. Dulles? When did you first hear that?

Dr. Shaw: This information was first given to me by a

man from the Secret Service who interviewed me in my 

office several weeks-later. It is the first time I knew 

about any bullet being recovered.)

7. Why is Senator Russell also skeptical? That this is so is 

implicit in his question during testimony of Dr. Gregory.

(Senator Russell, April 21, 196U; When did you first 

see this bullet, Doctor . . . ?

Dr. Gregory» This morning, sir.)

Nor are the commissioners alone puzzled, for the doctors' responses 

betray their own doubts.

8. Why was no prompt attempt made to have these doctors who 

attended Governor Connally try to relate bullet 399 to his 

wounds?

(The testimony of Drs. Shaw and Gregory reveal that they were not 

shewn the bullet that allegedly inflicted these wounds until five 

months after the assassination.

That no such attenpt was made at any time prior to their testimony 

—  let alone, shortly after the event when the doctors' impres­

sions would have been most vivid—  could well indicate official 

mistrust of bullet 399.)

9. Why did the Parkland doctors not hear of the discovery of a

bullet ("stretcher" or any other) much sooner?
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(Drs. Shaw and Perry said they never even heard of a bullet 

found at Parkland Hospital until some date considerably after 

Noveirber 22, 1963J in the case of Dr. Shaw, " .  . . several 

weeks later1*. That word of the "finding" of an assassination 

bullet did not travel like wildfire throughout the hospital 

can be explained logically only by assuming that the individuals 

involved in its discovery and handling were ordered not to talk. 

Such an order would be most consistent with official suspicion 

of 399» and may further serve to explain Hospital Personnel 

Director 0. P. Wrights otherwise incomprehensible failure to 

include any mention of it in his activity report, submitted to 

his superior .just twelve days later.)

Thus far, our inquiry has not solved the mystery of Commission Ex­

hibit 399. The walking-on-eggs performance of the Warren Commission and the 

FBI, far from legitimatizing it, have instead further beclouded its genealogy.

Expert testimony was twisted or ignored; "tests" were conducted 

(Dr. Olivier's) which tested nothing but the Commission's gullibility, or 

worse; while others which should have been made were not; important witnesses 

were not called, or were not asked relevant questions; pertinent reports were 

not presented, while conspicuous omissions in others went unchallenged; 

obvious implications went unexplored.

We have yet to learn the actual part played by bullet 399 in the 

unforgettable tragedy of November 22, 1963.

* * * * * * * *



HYPOTHESES

Bh

XIII

The Commission tells us that no more than three shots , and no fewer 

than two, were fired at the Presidential car. Of these, it says only two 

struck the victims; therefore, the Commission concludes, if there was a 

third (which it deems "probable"), it missed entirely.

Since there is no legitimate way a missed shot could end up on a 

stretcher in Parkland Hospital (even if such a bullet could somehow retain 

the virginal appearance of 399), and since the bullet which shattered 

President Kennedy's head is known to have fragmented, the Commission was 

stuck with 399 as the sole cause of the remaining wounds of the President, 

and all those of Governor Connally.

However, as we have seen, the Commission has not only failed to 

prove 399 inflicted all —  or ary ~  of the wounds attributed to it, but 

also has done nothing whatever to investigate alternative possibilities as 

to its involvement.

We shall have to do the Commission's work; for while the proof of 

the Zapruder film has destroyed any factual basis for clinging to the 

Commission’s lone-assassin - three-shot shibboleth, the question of 399's role 

still remains a vital one. Could it have been ary one of any nuntoer of 

shots fired at the victims, from ary direction, whether or not it struck a 

human target?

In this section we shall examine all seemingly plausible hypo­

theses. At first, we shall list, weigh, and eliminate those which must be 

precluded for reasons pertaining to the condition of 399, to the wounds it 

allegedly inflicted, or to the impossibility of its having been in different
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parts of the country at the same time. These three factors will be the only 

ones considered initially, even where exclusion of a hypothesis would be 

justified on other grounds. This contrary evidence will be based on observa­

tions by experts, and their views as given to the Commission.

(Such statements in reference to 399 as " . • . bullet would have been 

distorted", are to be interpreted as meaning more noticeably distorted than 

399 —  which actually was slightly flattened towards the rear.)

Then, we will examine the remaining hypotheses, and in these 

cases, additional factors will be considered.

Since our intention is to avoid overlooking any (initially) 

plausible manner in which 399 could have been implicated, our list shall 

include many alternatives not entertained by the Commission.

A. HYPOTHESES INVOLVING RELATIONSHIP OF 399 TO ALLEGED JFK-JC DOUBLE HIT .

(evidence presented below regarding relationship to CJovernor Connally's 
wounds also applicable here)

B. HYPOTHESES INVOLVING RELATIONSHIP OF 399 TO GOVERNOR CONNALLY'S WOUNDS
(JC H Y P O T H E S E S ) __________________________________________________

1. entered back; came to rest in body.
Evidence Against:
a. no evidence of bullet being removed from Governor's chest 

at Parkland Hospital.
b. wound at front of chest was exit wound. Evidence indicates 

only one entrance wound in back; therefore same bullet must 
have exited from front causing chest wound.

Hypothesis Eliminated

2. entered back, shattered rib, exited chest, pierced and shattered 

wrist, entered left thigh.
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Evidence Against?

a* numerous fragments left in Governor's booty (chest, wrist, 

thigh) rule out 399 as their source,
b. bullet shattering rib and wrist would most probably have been 

distorted.
hypothesis Eliminated

3» first pierced Governor's wrist, shattering bones, then entered 

thigfo.

Evidence Against?

a. coat fibres carried into wrist wound by missile indicated it had 

previously hit other obstruction.

b. numerous fragments left in wrist and thigh rule out 399 as their 

source.

c. bullet shattering wrist would most probably have been distorted.
hypothesis Eliminated

U. first pierced wrist, shattering bones, struck no other part of 

Governor's body.

Evidence Against?

(same as in 2 > above, except for deletion of "and thigh" in b)
Hypothesis Eliminated

5. first struck Governor's thigh.

a. (at normal velocity)}

Evidence Against?

(1) minor nature of thigh wound precludes unspent bullet as cause, 

(a) failing to encounter bone (or failing to encounter it

squarely) bullet would almost certainly have pierced leg, 

causing exit wound. No evidence of such wound.
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(b) encountering bone (squarely) -would have shattered bone 

(no indication of such fracture); bullet would most 

probably become distorted.
Hypothesis Eliminated

b. (at exceptionally low velocity* caused by "weak charge" or 

otherwise defective cartridge);

Evidence Against:

(l) bullet-fragment penetrated into femur, indicating bullet 

from which it came was unspent.
Hypothesis Eliminated

C. HYPOTHESES INVOLVING RELATIONSHIP OF 399 TO MISSED SHOT(S)

1. missed car and occupants, struck pavement or hard surface.

Evidence Against:

a. bullet would have been distorted.
Hypothesis Eliminated

We have now eliminated seven hypotheses and sub-hypotheses for 

reasons immediately decisive. Of the remaining thirty-seven which follow, 

some — where warranted—  will likewise be immediately eliminated; but others 

will be retained for further consideration.

D. REMAINING HYPOTHESES INVOLVING RELATIONSHIP OF 399 TO GOVERNOR’S WOUNDS

6. entered back, shattered rib, exited front of chest, struck no

other part of body, (downward angle of bullet exiting from chest 

would insure its striking interior of car, resulting in one of 

the following)* 

a. hit solid obstruction in interior of car at high speed. 

Evidence Against*

Hypothesis Eliminated
(l) it -would have been distorted
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b. penetrated upholstery* coming to rest in soft material, thus 

preventing further distortion.

Evidence Against [

(1) it would have to have been recovered and placed on stretcher.

(2) no reason for such a bullet to be placed on stretcher.
Hypothesis Retained

c. spent upon exiting Governor's chest and jacket, came to rest in 

car without damaging it, or distorting bullet.

Evidence Against?

(same as Si, b above) Hypothesis Bgtetoed

7. entered Governor's back, exited front of chest, then struck his 

thigh. Bullet subsequently*

a. was removed surgically at Parkland.

Evidence Against*

(1) such surgical removal contrary to all evidence.

(2) if so removed, no reason to place it on stretcher.
Hypothesis Retained

b. fell out of thigh wound; either into his trousers, and from there 

, onto his stretcher; or later, directly from the wound onto

the stretcher.

Evidence Against *

(l) if bullet fell from thigh wound, it must have been nearly spent

prior to striking thigh —  otherwise, it would have penetrated

to depth that would have precluded dislodgment. But in fact,

bullet-fragment penetrated into his femur; which indicates it

came from missile still retaining considerable velocity.
Hypothesis Retained .
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E. HYPOTHESES INVOLVING RELATIONSHIP OF 399 TO JFK13 WOUNDS

1. struck President Kennedy’s head, exited) then struck car.

a. encountering hard object in interior of car at high speed. 

Evidence Against ’•

(1) bullet piercing skull -would most probably have been distorted.
/

(2) bullet then striking hard object in car (of sufficient sub­

stance to stop it)would be further distorted.
Hypothesis Eliminated

b. penetrated upholstery, coming to rest in soft material, thus 

preventing further distortion.

Evidence Against *

(1) bullet piercing skull would most probably have been distorted.

(2) it would have to have been recovered and placed on stretcher.

(3) no reason for such bullet to be placed on stretcher.
Hypothesis Retained

c. spent upon exiting head, came to rest in car without further 

distortion to bullet or damage to car.

Evidence Against»

(1) bullet piercing skull most probably would have been distorted.

(2) it -would have to have been recovered and placed on stretcher.

(3) no reason for such bullet to be placed on stretcher.
Hypothesis Retained

2. struck President Kennedy’s head; exited, escaped car without 

striking it.
a. still unspent after escaping car, bullet encountered solid

obstruction.
Evidence Against*
(1) bullet piercing skull most probably would have been distorted.

(2) striking other hard object would have resulted in further

Hypothesis Eliminated
distortion
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b. still unspent after escaping car* bullet struck soft surface 

(grass, soft earth), thus penetrating deeply.

Evidence Against?

(1) bullet piercing skull most probably -mould have been distorted.

(2) recovery in time for placement on stretcher unlikely.

(3) no reason to place such bullet on stretcher.
Hypothesis Retained

c. still unspent after escaping car, bullet traveled unobstructed 

until spent.

Evidence Against?

(1) bullet piercing skull most probably would have been distorted.

(2) recovery in time for placement on stretcher unlikely.

(3) no reason to place such bullet on stretcher.
Hypothesis Retained

d. spent upon exiting head and escaping car, bullet fell to surface. 

Evidence Againsts

(1) bullet piercing skull most probably would have been distorted.

(2) it would have to have been recovered and placed on stretcher.

(3) no reason to place such bullet on stretcher.
' Hypothesis Retained

3. entered JFK’s neck (either front or rear), ranged upward into head, 

piercing skull; exiting, and escaping car without striking it.

a. (alternative and "Evidence Against" same as in 2a, above)
Hypothesis Eliminated

b. ( " " " " same as in 2b, above)
Hypothesis Retained

c. ( " " " ” same as in 2c, above)
Hypothesis Retained

same as in 2d, above)
Hypothesis Retained

d. ( n n it n
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U. entered neck (either from front or rear)? ranged upward through head, 

exited skull through pre-inflicted •wound —  thus avoiding further 

distortion —  and escaping car.

a. (alternative and "Evidence Against" —  with deletion
of (l), same as in 2a, above)

Hypothesis Eliminated
b. ( " " " " " " 2b, " ) Hypothesis Retained

c. ( " " " " " " 2c, " ) Hypothesis Retained

d. ( " " " " " " 2d, " ) Hypothesis Retained

5. entered JFK»s neck (either from front or rear), ranged upward into 

head] did not exit, removed surgically.

Evidence Against?

a. such surgical removal at Parkland contrary to all evidence; no 

reason to place such bullet on stretcher.
Hypothesis Retained

b. any such removal at Bethesda would have precluded same bullet

being found at Parkland hours earlier.
Hypothesis Eliminated

6. entered JET^s neck (from front or rear), ranged downward in body and 

did not exit; removed surgically.

Evidence Against?

a. such removal at Parkland contrary to all evidence; no reason 

to place such bullet on stretcher.
Hypothesis Retained

b. any such removal at Bethesda would have precluded same bullet 

being found at Parkland hours earlier.
Hypothesis Eliminated 7 *

7. entered JFK's throat, exited back.
a. if unspent, bullet would have penetrated interior of car
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Evidence Against:

(1) even if penetration of soft material prevented further dis­

tortion, bullet -would have to have been recovered from car 

and placed on stretcher.

(2) no reason to place such bullet on stretcher.

(3) size and description of back wound suggests it was entry.
Ifypothesis Retained

b. if spent after exiting body and piercing clothing, bullet would 

have come to rest in car.

Evidence Against?

(1) no reason to place such bullet on stretcher.

(2) size and description of back wound suggests it was entry.

Hypothesis Retained

8. entered JFK’s back, exited throat, missed other occupants, struck 

interior of car.

a* (alternative and "Evidence Against11 same as in 7a, above.)
Hypothesis Retained

b. ( " " " " same as in 7b, above.)
Hypothesis Retained

\

9« entered JFK's back, exited throat, escaped car without striking it.
a. (alternative and "Evidence Against" —  with deletion

of (l) —  same as in JFK 2a) Hypothesis Eliminated
b. (alternative and "Evidence Against" —  with deletion

of (l) —  same as in JFK 2b) Hypothesis Retained
c. (alternative and "Evidence Against" —  with deletion

of (l) —  same as in JFK 2cJ Hypothesis Retained
d. (alternative and "Evidence Against" —  with deletion

of (l) —  same as in JFK 2d) Hypothesis Retained 10

10. entered JFK's back, came to rest in body; subsequently fell out of
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back through same wound onto stretcher (possibly at time chest 

massage applied at Parkland).

Evidence Against:

a. for bullet to have any conceivable chance to thus fall from 

body, its penetration into back -would have to be extremely 

shallow.
(1) such shallow penetration could only result—

(a) from bullet having expended most of its energy by striking 

other object prior to entering back (in such case, distortion 

would be most likely).

(b) from "weak charge", or otherwise defective cartridge.

(2) even in case of shallow penetration, expert opinions indicate

such dislodgment from body extremely unlikely.*
Hypothesis Retained

F. HYPOTHESES INVOLVING RELATIONSHIP OF 399 TO MISSED SHOT(S)

2. missed occupants, struck car,

a. encountered hard obstruction 

Evidence Against:

(l) it would have been distorted.
Hypothesis Eliminated

b. penetrated upholstery, missing hard obstruction, thus pre­

venting distortion.

Evidence Against ’•

(1) bullet would then have to have been recovered from car and 

placed on stretcher.

(2) no reason to place such bullet on stretcher.
Hypothesis Retained

*See footnote page 7U
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3. missed car and occupants, struck grassy area (or soft earth), (grass 

in Dsaly Plaza well-tended, watered regularly; it had been raining 

earlier).

a* if unspent , bullet encountering such surface would penetrate 

deeply (if it struck sub-surface rock it would have been 

distorted)•

Evidence Against [

(1) recovery in time to place on stretcher unlikely.

(2) no reason to place such bullet on stretcher.
Hypothesis Retained

b. if spent, due to "weak charge", or having been fired from great 

distance, bullet would still probably penetrate such surface. 

Evidence Against?

(1) bullet would have to be recovered and placed on stretcher.

(2) no reason to place such bullet on stretcher.
Hypothesis Retained

* * * * * * * *
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On the basis of conclusive evidence* * we have eliminated nine 

more of our remaining hypotheses and sub-hypotheses* leaving twenty-eight 

still open.

Of the remaining nuirfoer, the largest group (nine) require that 

399 come to rest somewhere in the President’s car (as a result of the shoot­

ing)* be recovered therefrom* and placed on the stretcher on which it was 

found at Parkland Hospital. Some brief testimony by FBI firearms expert 

Frazier is in order here, for he examined the car within hours after the 

assassinations

Mr. Specters Mr. Frazier . . .  Do you have any knowledge through ary source 

whatsoever of any bullets or fragments found anywhere in the 

vicinity of the assassination* other than those (fragments) which 

you have already testified to* which were in the car* or the whole 

bullet from the Connally stretcher . . . ?

Mr. Fraziers No sir* I have never heard of ary nor have any been submitted

to me.
\

The next questions answered by Frazier emphasize still further the un­

likelihood of 399 having been found in the car (or in the vicinity of the 

assassination)•

Mr. teeters During the regular processing of the FBI examination in this

case, would all such bullets or bullet fragments be brought to you 

. for examination in accordance with your assignment to this matter 

general.lv?

Mr. Fraziers Yes* they would.

• • •
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Mr. Specter? Was your examination (for bullet penetration of the automobile) 

a thorough examination of all aspects of the interior of the car?

Mr. Frazier? Yes, sir . . .  we examined the rugs carefully for holes . . .

we examined all the upholstery covering, on the back of the front 

seat, on the doors . . .  the jump seats, the actual rear seat, the 

back of the rear seat, and . . . the front seat > and we found no 

bullet holes.

Ifypotheses JC-6c and JFK-lc are two of this first group (of nine).

To believe that either offers a reasonable explanation for 399, one must 

believe that — Frazier notwithstanding—  399 'was found in the car; and that 

it was then placed on a stretcher at Parkland. In the case of JFK-lcj we must 

further accept that 399 somehow avoided distortion while piercing President 

Kennedy’s head.

Two more of this group are JFK-7b and JFK-8b. To believe that 

either of these can explain 399, one must believe that it had been fired by a 

'•weak charge's or otherwise defective cartridge; that Frazier was wrong in 

saying only fragments -were found in the car; and that 399 was recovered from 

the car and 'placed on a stretcher.

Bie five remaining hypotheses in which 399 must be recovered from 

the car are JC-6b, JFK-lb, JFK-7a, JFK-8a, and MISS-2b. These have the 

impediment of requiring 399 to penetrate the upholstery of the car, making 

pronpt recovery for placement on the stretcher that much more difficult.

As we have seen, Frazier said there was no evidence of such 

penetration; and Dr. Olivier states that if such a bullet struck the interior 

of the car after piercing President Kennedy, " . . . you would have seen a 

good deal of evidence”.
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Therefore, to retain a n y of these five as possibilities, one must 

accept that Frazier was wrong in believing that only fragments were found in 

the car; that he was wrong again in saying there was no evidence of penetra­

tion in the carj and that 399 was recovered from the car's interior and 

placed on the stretcher at Parkland. In the case of JFK-lb, we must also 

accept that 399 avoided distortion although piercing the President's skull.

An additional hurdle common to this group, but one which must be 

surmounted in order to retain any of its nine alternatives, is the fact that 

the Secret Service was in complete possession of the car from the time of 

its arrival at Parkland until it was flown from Dallas three hours later at 

3*35 p.m. It follows, then, that if anyone recovered 399 from the car at 

Parkland and placed it on a stretcher (or gave it to someone who did), it 

almost certainly could have been no one but a mentoer of that agency.

(At this point, it would be well to recall that it is most

unlikely that either of the two stretchers handled by Tomlinson could have

been used by President Kennedy; the Commission not only agreeing on this

point, but is unequivocal in excluding the possibility entirely. We have

also seen that there is at least a reasonable doubt that either stretcher \ ----------------------------------- -
was used by Governor Connally —  despite the Commission's conclusion that 

the one removed from the elevator by Tomlinson was indeed the Governor's.

This leads us to the near certainty that no more than one of the 

two stretchers on which Tomlinson could have "found" the bullet was con­

nected with either victim; and that it is entirely possible that nether 

of them was so involved.

These conclusions, unaided by any other considerations, but fully 

supported by the evidence, inevitably raise the possibility that 399 was 

planted. However, since it is our purpose to find, if possible, a legitimate
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and natural explanation for the pristine appearance of bullet 3 9 9  > we shall 

make two important concessions toward that end by assuming that either of 

the two stretchers in Tomlinson's vicinity when he "found1* the bullet could 

have been President Kennedy's or Governor Connally's.)

Another group of the remaining hypotheses, five in nunber, are 

JFK-2b, JFK~3b, JFK-hb, JFK-9b, and MISS-3a. Four of these involve 399's 

escaping the car after wounding the President? and the fifth, a miss. All 

five make it necessary that bullet 399 be dug out of the earth at varying 

and indeterminate distances from the assassination site, and placed on a 

stretcher at Parkland. To retain any of these five as possibilities, one 

must be Trilling to believe that someone either observed the inpact of an 

unspent bullet on the grass or soft earth, or located the spot shortly after­

ward? that although this occurred at an indeterminate distance from the 

assassination site, and despite the considerable depth to -which such a 

bullet -would penetrate such a surface,* it was, nevertheless, pronptly 

retrieved? and that someone then placed it on a stretcher at Parkland.

Four other alternatives, JFK-2c, JFK-3c, JFK-Uc, and JFK-9c, also

are cases in which 399 exited the car without striking it, after inflicting
\

wounds on the President. Here, however, instead of penetrating the soil,

399 would have traveled unobstructed until spent.

To retain any of these four, one must accept that pronptly after 

the shooting, the spent 399 was somehow located at what probably would 

have been a great distance from the assassination site (Frazier says such a 

bullet after piercing President Kennedy's neck would travel approximately

* As to depth of penetration in soft earth, Eh?. Olivier's testimony gives 
some indication. He reveals that bullets of this type fired into tissue- 
simulation materials from the Mannlicher-Carcano rifle, in some cases 
pierced more than thirty inches of the material, and still retained suf­
ficient energy to bury themselves in a mound of earth.
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a mile if unobstructed after leaving the car —  even if it had also pierced 

the windshield)} and that it was subsequently placed on a stretcher at Park­

land. In the cases of JFK-2c and JPTC-3C, we must, again, accept that 399 

escaped distortion although piercing the President's skull.

Four more hypotheses involving 399's escape from the car (in these 

cases, as a spent bullet), after wounding the President, are JFK-2d, JFK-3d, 

JFK-Ud, and JFK-9d; the former two, once again, only after piercing his head.

therefore, retention of any of these four is dependent upon 

believing that 399 was located and recovered from the Dealy Plaza area, and 

placed on the stretcher; and additionally, in the two former instances, 

that 399 was not distorted although fracturing the President's skull.

hypothesis MISS-3b, also, calls for the discovery of 399 in the 

Dealy Plaza area shortly after the shooting, and for its placement on the 

stretcher. Its failure to penetrate the soft surface deeply requires us to 

further believe that it resulted either from a very weak charge, or that it 

was spent as a result of having been fired from a very great distance.

Three hypotheses, JC-7a, JFK-$a, and JFK-6a, involve the surgical
\

removal of 399 at Parkland Hospital, and its placing on a stretcher. For 

this to have occurred would mean that the doctors attending the victims not 

only failed to include such critical information in their written reports 

made shortly after the event, but that they falsified those reports, and 

committed perjury before the Commission.

Further, that this deliberate concealment of such surgical removal 

began at Parkland Hospital immediately after attending the victims; for at 

no time —  either at the November 22 hospital press conferences explaining 

the victims' wounds and treatment, or at ary other time —  was ary mention
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made of a ■whole bullet (or "nearly ■whole" as the Commission chooses to describe 

399) having been surgically removed from either President Kennedy or Governor 

Connally. And, of course, after such surgical removal, the bullet would still 

have to have been placed on one of the stretchers.

Before turning our attention to the two remaining hypotheses, we 

should note that of the "retained” hypotheses reconsidered thus far (after 

the elimination of the first seven), whether their individual inpediments 

impress one as decisive or not, each of them requires that some unknown 

person or persons retrieved bullet 399? either from the Presidential car, or 

from the general vicinity of the assassination, or from an unknown location 

at an indeterminate distance from the site of the shooting; or from the 

bodies of the victims themselves; and then placed it, or arranged to have it 

placed, on one of the stretchers.

Die point must be enphasized that not only would this be an inex­

cusable and inexplicable mishandling of vital evidence even if somehow com­

mitted with no sinister purpose, but that there is no reason whatsoever why 

this should have been done with a legitimate assassination bullet even for a

sinister purpose. The "planting" of a bullet can only be with the intention
\

of having it "found" so as to ensure positive identification with a weapon 

the "planter" wishes to implicate (whether such a weapon is actually in­

volved in the crime or not). Such a person would be delighted to discover 

that an assassination bullet had been recovered in the near pristine 

condition of 399, thus assuring the desired ballistic identification. V/hat 

possible motive could he then have for .jeopardizing his good fortune and the 

legitimacy of such crucial evidence (not to speak of his own risk of 
criminal involvement) by "planting" it? The answer, of course, is that no 

such motive exists.
* * * * * * * *



XV THE CHOICES NARROW

71

There are now but two hypotheses remaining for our reoonsideration.

They are unique in that they are the onHy ones that do not require 399's

having been unnaturally transported from the place where it came to rest after

the shooting to a hospital stretcher at Parkland. We shall take them up separately.

The first, JC-7b, states that 399 entered Governor formally's back, 

exited from his chest after shattering his ribj then struck his thigh causing 

the small, wound the doctors found there; and then became dislodged, either 

falling into his trousers and eventually from there onto his stretcher, or 

later, directly from the wound onto the stretcher.

The Commission of course believes this bullet did become so dis­

lodged; but their three-shot limit requres also that it had already pierced 

and shattered the Governor's wrist during its trip from his chest to his 

thigh, and that it had previously gone through President Kennedy's neck before 

striking the Governor.

It is doubtful that anyone reading this far can still believe bullet

399 could have done what the Commission says it did. Ihe Comnission's single-
\

assassin case is dead; laid low by the fatal blows inflicted by Abraham 

Zapruder's film, and neither Hypothesis JC-7b nor anything else can bring it 

to life. But cannot JC-7b at least provide a reasonable and legitimate 

explanation for 399; which, after all, is the object of our search?

An objective examination of the facts dictates an almost certain 

"no". Even after conceding that bullet 399 could retain its undistorted

appearance after fragmenting the Governor's rib, there are other formidable
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barriers in the path of JC-Jb's acceptance.*

A bullet does not fall out of its entry wound unless its penetra­

tion is extremely shallow; almost certainly, not unless its penetration was 

so slight as to hare come to rest with part of it still protruding from the 

wound.** But a penetration anywhere near this shallow by 399 would indicate 

that it was almost completely spent, retaining only a fraction of its 

velocity when it struck the leg. The facts are, however, that there is a 

bullet fragment in Governor Connally's femur, which could have entered in no 

other way except through the single wound observed on his thigh, the same 

wound the Commission says was caused by 399. Hovr could a tiny fragment 

have the necessary momentum to penetrate the tissues of the thigh clear to 

the bone, and then penetrate deeply into the bone itself (the heaviest of 

the human body), if the bullet from which it came had impacted the thigh with 

so little force as to have become dislodged and fallen back out?***

To believe, therefore, that JC-7b may solve the nystery of 399* one 

must believe either of the following!

1. That 399 struck the Governor’s thigh with so little force

' that it fell from the wound it created; and that despite the 

feebleness of its impact, a fragment nevertheless instantly 

dislodged from it and penetrated into the femur.

2. That the fragment in the Governor's femur came from a dif-

* this hypothesis, of course, involves the further concession that the metal 
fragments left by a bullet in the Governor's chest and thigh could have 
come from 399, despite strong contrary testimony by the Commission's own 
expert witnesses.

** see footnote, page 7U
*** compare with It. Olivier's tests in which this type of ammunition com­

pletely pierced more than thirty inches of simulation materials.



THE CHOICES NARROW cont. 73

ferent bullet, and that —  since it is undisputed there 

was only a single wound on the Governor’s leg —  the then 

impotent 399 must have struck his thigh at the exact same 

place where the fragment had entered (or vice versa), 

thereby causing two separate entrance wounds to appear as one.

* * * * * * * *

We now have but one hypothesis, JFK-10, remaining to be reconsidered. 

It states that 399 first struck the President's back (or "neck", as the 

Commission prefers); came to rest in his body, and subsequently fell out 

through the same wound onto a stretcher —  presumably while chest massage was 

being applied at Parkland. (This indeed, is the hypothesis clearly implied—  

though not quite explicitly stated — in the recently declassified and by now 

famous FBI report submitted to the Commission on Decenter 9, 1963.* The "FBI 

Supplemental Report" dated January 13, 1961*,* gives the depth of penetration 

into the President's back as " . . .  a distance of less than a finger length".)

As with our preceding hypothesis, JFK-10 offers — at first glance—  

a seemingly plausible legitimate explanation for the condition and discovery 

of bullet 399• However, a closer examination leads to a different 

conclusion.

To begin with, we again have the problem of "fall-out". As with 

the case of the Governor's slight thigh wound, for such dislodgement from 

the President's body to have ary reasonable possibility of occurring, the

* Epstein, "Inquests The Warren- Commission and the Establishment of Truth", 
Viking. (The FBI through anonymous spokesmen has made a series of 
"statements" reported in the press from the 29th of May, 1966, to the 
present; including refusals to oonment; suggestions that the FBI reports 
were only preliminary and hasty; and suggestions that the FBI was only 
repeating what the doctors had said.)
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bullet's penetration would have to be extremely shallow; by independent 

expert opinion, much less than even the two-to-three inches constituting a 

finger's length.* Such shallow penetration could conceivably be accounted 

for in three ways*

1. the bullet was spent as a result of having been fired from 

a very great distance (as Frazier indicated; with ammuni­

tion of this type, more than a mile; obviously a circumstance 

less than ideal for an assassination attempt.)

2. the bullet was spent as a result of having dissipated most of 

its energy by encountering some other obstruction prior to 

striking the President's back. (Frazier's testimony 

indicates there was no car damage attributable to this bullet, 

and specifically, no holes in the upholstery. It is difficult, 

then to conceive of an obstruction encountered by 399 before 

reaching the car, that could slow it down enough to allow for

* Die author obtained opinions from six experts; coroners, coroners' patholo­
gists, and criminalists in three major cities. Panging in experience from 
six to forty years, representing a collective total of almost one hundred 
years, these men had made an aggregate of approximately 15,000 separate 
bullet wound examinations. They were unanimous in stating the followings

\

1. they had never seen a case involving "fall-out" through the 
entrance wound by a bullet that had completely penetrated 
the skin, let alone two or three inches of tissue.

2. they had never heard, through their colleagues or profes­
sional journals, of such an occurrence.

3. that the only cases of "fall-out" they could conceive of — and 
had occasionally dealt with—  were those in which the bullet 
had come to rest partially protruding from the skin; either
as a result of failing to conpleteiy enter the body; or, 
after almost piercing it entirely, failing to conpleteiy 
exit.

The reason given by all six experts as precluding "fallout" was 
that the missile, upon striking the body, forces its way through skin and 
tissues, which inmediately contract behind it; thereby leaving a free 
passage smaller than the diameter of the bullet. In reply to the specific 
question as to whether such "fall-out" was a reasonable possibility if 
chest massage had been applied in an effort at revival, the unanimous 
answer was no.
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penetration so shallow as to permit "fall-out". Even if such 

were the case, gross distortion of the bullet would have 

almost certainly resulted.)

3. The bullet was grossly underpowered as the result of a "weak 

charge", or otherwise.defective cartridge, therefore possess­

ing only a fraction of the velocity normal for this type of 

ammunition, (expert opinions received by the author indicate 

this is an extremely rare occurrence in ammunition of reason­

ably current manufacture J more frequent in very old or 

"reloaded" ammunition).

It follows from the above that if our final hypothesis is to be 

retained as an explanation of 399, we can do so logically only by accepting 

the following*

1. That 399 made an extremely shallow penetration of JPTC's back; 

and did so either as a result of*

a. having been fired from a very great distance.

b. having first spent most of its energy,

(1) by encountering a previous obstruction prior to

' reaching the car 3

(2) by first striking some portion of the car; and in 

either case, managed to avoid distortion.

c. having been fired by a cartridge so defective as to 

impart to it a vastly sub-normal velocity.

2. That having made such shallow penetration, 3 9 9 later fell 

from his back, through its own entrance wound, onto his 

stretcher.

In addition, for those still believing JFK-10 a reasonable
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possibility, it should be recalled that yet another inprobability must be 

added to the series on which this hypothesis already depends; that our 

earlier concession that President Kennedy's stretcher could hare been the 

one on which Tomlinson found the bullet is itself contingent upon two 

factors»

1. that contrary to all indications, someone replaced sheets 

on President Kennedy's stretcher after they had been

once removed, and then moved the stretcher to the elevator 

or corridor area where Tomlinson found it.

2. that Tomlinson arrived at the elevator close to an hour 

later than he said he did.

Nor is even this quite all, for JFK-10 shares with all other 

hypotheses one final handicap; there is no evidence of ary blood or tissue 

ever having been on 399. Frazier — despite Eisenberg's obfuscation—  said 

he saw none; there is no indication that ary of those handling it 

previously saw ary; and, if ary laboratory analysis was made which veri­

fied or refuted the presence of such residue, neither the Warren Report nor 

ary of the twenty-six volumes of testirory and exhibits reveal that fact.*

* * * * * * * *

* Opinions received from experts referred to in footnote on page 7U reveal 
that such conplete lack of adhering blood or tissue would be unusual for 
a bullet that had pierced a body.
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Our search for legitimacy for Commission Exhibit 399 is almost 

at an end. It has not been an easy one. Although all initially plausible 

hypotheses have been presented which could involve it as a legitimate 

assassination bullet (albeit# with two exceptions # a bullet which was in­

explicably placed on a stretcher)# most would agree that upon close 

examination even the least unlikely of these presents a remote possibility# 

at best.

And yet# 399 exists. If its undistorted appearance# immaculate 

condition, suspicious discovery# and nysterious handling cannot be reason­

ably accounted for by any hypothesis implying legitimacy# the answer must 

lie elsewhere.

Indeed# it has .been implicit at many junctures throughout our 

search; and it has now become as inescapable as it is ominouss

That bullet 399 is not a legitimate assassination bullet at all; 

that it was never fired at any human target; that instead, it was deliberately

fired in such a manner as to prevent its mutilation; and then# with the
\

intention of assuring its identification with the Mannlicher-Carcano rifle 

allegedly belonging to Lee Harvey Oswald# it was planted by person or persons 

unknown on the hospital stretcher where it was subsequently "found".

*  *  *  * • *  #  *  *

R.U. Ju3y, 1966
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